

Malmö Studies in Educational Sciences No. 65

Dissertation in the National Research School of Childhood, Learning and Didactics No. 2

JOHAN DAHLBECK

ON CHILDHOOD AND THE GOOD WILL

Thoughts on Ethics and Early Childhood Education

Malmö University, 2012 Faculty of Education and Society This publication is also available at: http://dspace.mah.se/handle/2043/14012

For Birgit and Birgitta, who were such that they saw small things

'Now, can we say that some thirsty people sometimes refuse to drink?'

'Yes, lots of them,' he said. 'Often.'

'What can be said about these people, then? Can't we say there is something in their soul telling them to drink, and also something stopping them? Something different from, and stronger than, the thing telling them they *should* drink?'

'Yes, I think we can say that', he said.

'The thing which stops them in these cases – doesn't it arise, when it does arise, as a result of rational calculation, whereas the things which drive or draw them towards drink are the products of feelings and disorders?'

'Apparently.'

'It will be a reasonable inference, then', I said, 'that they are two completely different things. The part of the soul with which we think rationally we call the rational element. The part with which we feel sexual desire, hunger, thirst, and the turmoil of the other desires can be called the irrational and desiring element, the companion of indulgence and pleasure.'

'Yes', he said, 'that would be a perfectly natural conclusion for us to come to.'

– Plato, Republic, Book IV

Inclination is blind and servile, whether it is kindly or not; and when morality is in question, reason must not play the part of mere guardian to inclination but, disregarding it altogether, must attend solely to its own interest as pure practical reason.

- Immanuel Kant, Critique of Practical Reason, 5:118

'And every day', he went on, 'we lead two lives, and the half of our soul is madness, and half heaven is lit by a black sun. I say I am a man, but who is the other that hides in me?'

Arthur Machen,
 'Psychology'

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9
STUDIES INCLUDED IN THE DISSERTATION	12
INTRODUCTION	13
The setting up of a problem	13
An exemplification	15
AIMS AND SCOPE OF THE THESIS	20
OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS	25
ECE, ESD, AND THE CHILD AS MESSENGER	28
Childhood as an abstract idea: what is a good childhood?	28
ECE in Sweden: the shaping of a better future	31
Traditions and values	33
ESD as a transporter of ethical values	35
a note on universalism and cosmopolitan	
EDUCATION	40
on the conditions of individualizing	
NORMATIVE IDEALS: CONTEMPORARY	
EDUCATION AND THE GOOD WILL	45
The Kantian legacy	45
Some conditions of Kantian ethics	48
Kantian ethics and education: recognizing ethics, or,	
learning to make the 'right' choice	51
When Kantian ethics becomes dogma: a cautionary note	57
ON THE POSSIBILITY OF AN IMMANENT ETHICS:	
CREATING NEW VALUES	61
Immanent ethics according to Nietzsche and Deleuze	62
Nietzsche's perspectivism and the theory of drives	
Deleuze desire and modes of existence	69

Affective learning: a possible immanent ethics in practice?	72	
RELATED STUDIES ON ETHICS AND EDUCATION		
ON METHOD: WORKING WITH PARADIGMATIC		
EXAMPLES	83	
A note on the gap between what we see and what we say		
and on where to go from there	84	
Study I		
Study II		
Study III		
Study IV	92	
SUMMARIES OF STUDIES		
Study I: Evaluating Life: Working with Ethical Dilemmas in		
Education for Sustainable Development	95	
Study II: On Childhood and the Logic of Difference: Some		
Empirical Examples	97	
Study III: 'Needle and Stick' Save the World: Sustainable		
Development and the Universal Child	99	
Study IV: Towards a Pure Ontology: Children's Bodies and		
Morality	103	
FINAL THOUGHTS	106	
REFERENCES		
STUDIES I-IV	121	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ethics and research are similar in that both processes are inherently relational. It is my firm belief that writing a thesis is not – and cannot be – a solitary undertaking. Many people have walked along-side me, some for parts of the distance and others have shared this road with me for a long time. Some of these fellow travelers deserve to be mentioned especially.

For opening doors, providing initial support and proofreading early drafts: thank you Maria Sundkvist and Jonas Quarsebo.

Thank you Karin Dahlberg for always being there whenever this maze that is the academic world threatened to become too overwhelming and complicated for me to orientate.

Special thanks are due to Lena Bäckström for supplying invaluable hints and for offering good suggestions for revisions of early article drafts.

Likewise to Gitte Malm, for taking the time to review drafts of articles, for indicating incoherencies and for suggesting revisions of anything from titles to the disposition of the texts.

Thank you Alan Pomfret for offering some crucial suggestions for the preparation of my first article draft and for encouraging me to aim for an international research community.

Special thanks to Thom Axelsson and Bosse Bergstedt for providing excellent readings of my texts, raising important questions and offering some good suggestions in relation to my 25% and 90%-seminars.

Thanks also to Anne Harju for insightful readings of and comments on various article drafts and, in addition, for being an inspiring dialogue partner.

I owe a big thank you to Lennart Olausson for being willing to subject himself to demanding (and rarely very concrete) discussions concerning Kantian ethics and Kantian philosophy. Our discussions have been truly inspiring and go a long way to confirm that academic labor requires careful reading and focused probing and that this is preferably done in a critical but unprejudiced environment with attentive and patient participants.

A big thanks to Kalle Jonasson for reading drafts at various stages, for commenting extensively on texts and ideas, and for being an invaluable dialogue partner throughout this entire process.

Thank you Fredrik Nilsson for your generosity: thanks for always being willing to read and to comment, for lending your experienced and critical eyes, and for encouraging me to pursue paths that I would not have dared to pursue alone or without your support.

Thank you Peter Lilja for sharing the load on this long and winding road, it could not have been done without you! And by the way, I am far from done with you so keep the coffee machine turned on.

I owe a great deal to you, Sven Persson and Ingegerd Tallberg-Broman, my two supervisors, for being patient with me, for allowing me to stray at times, and for having faith in this somewhat enigmatic project of mine.

To be sure, the completion of this project is entirely indebted to the ever present companionship of my sister, Moa De Lucia Dahlbeck. Together we have taken on unknown and exciting territories and we have only just begun.

To my parents, Per and Lise Dahlbeck, thank you for everything! Thank you for whatever you did that – for better or worse – has made me into this relentless challenger of intellectual dogmatism without turning out a complete nihilist in the process. My awe for life remains undiminished and it forces me to take on anything that threatens to constrain it.

Finally, to my beloved wife Maria and our two beautiful boys, Melvin and Bill, without your constant love and comforting presence this life of writing and thinking would be truly unbearable. Thank you!

Malmö, 2012 Johan Dahlbeck

STUDIES INCLUDED IN THE DISSERTATION

Study I

Evaluating Life: Working with Ethical Dilemmas in Education for

Sustainable Development

Co-author: Moa De Lucia Dahlbeck

Published: Published online 2011, Law, Culture and the Humani-

ties, DOI: 10.1177/1743872111425977

Study II

On Childhood and the Logic of Difference: Some Empirical Examples

Published: 2012, *Children & Society*, *26*(1), pp. 4–13, DOI: 10.1111/j.1099-0860.2010.00298.x

Study III

'Needle and Stick' Save the World: Sustainable Development and the Universal Child

Co-author: Moa De Lucia Dahlbeck

Published: 2012, *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, *33*(2), pp. 267–281, DOI: 10.1080/01596306.2012.666080

Study IV

Towards a Pure Ontology: Children's Bodies and Morality

Published: Published online 2011, Educational Philosophy and

Theory, DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.2011.00775.x

INTRODUCTION¹

The setting up of a problem

The present thesis deals with a problem concerning how one can understand and deal with human coexistence. It is an endeavor to analyze the way in which this seemingly eternal problem is being dealt with presently – within the field of early childhood education – and to study the effects of it in terms of how it shapes the world and how the world may be shaped in turn.

It concerns ethics insofar as ethics is about the problem of coexistence and insofar as the ethical challenge has traditionally been concerned with inquiries into human well-being and the good life (Nadler, 2006). Education and ethics seem bound together as the project of education involves an endeavor to ensure human well-being in the future.²

Why, then, would one want to pose a problem in connection with something as seemingly self-evident and natural as the need to organize the social world according to the demands of human co-existence?

Because, as there are (potentially at least) different ways of organizing human coexistence it appears to be of some importance to understand the effects of doing it in a particular way so as to become aware of its inherent limitations. In order to understand the limitations of a particular organizational scheme one needs to investigate its conditions; that is, one needs to map out what is pos-

¹ This thesis has been carried out within the Research School of Childhood Learning and Didactics (RSCLD), financed by the Swedish Research Council: Educational Sciences 721-2007-3671.

² This proposition presupposes the validity of the claim that education, at the most fundamental level, serves to 'influence the well-being of individuals and nations' (Lauder et al., 2006: 1).

sible to do and say given the implicit and explicit rules of the framework. In a sense, then, the only way to get to the conditions of a particular way of conceptualizing and organizing human coexistence is to look at its constitutive surfaces; i.e. its embodiment in terms of inscriptions of language (Deleuze, 1990/1995: 87). Language, in this sense, is where we may look in order to perceive what is utterable and what is not, given the conceptual restraints of a particular form of ethics. One of the principle tasks of language, taken from this point of view, is to establish limits (Deleuze, 1969/2004: 11). As such, the present thesis serves to constitute the surface of a particular form of ethics – manifested and proliferated within the institutional setting of contemporary Swedish early childhood education (ECE) – so as to make visible what lies hidden; i.e. its conditions.

How, then, does one go about when studying this problem practically?

Given that the purpose is not to understand the conditions of the prevailing ethics just so as to be able to establish an origin (in other words to establish what it *is*), but in order to understand the rules by which it functions so as to be able to understand what ethics *does*, it appears important to study examples of ethics at work, as it were.

The problem with taking the question of what ethics *is* as a starting point is that it appears to presuppose an already established (stable) identity in the form of a preexisting (metaphysical) idea (Deleuze: 1962/2006: 75–78). This idea is then grounded in empirical relations that mainly serve to confirm the validity of the original idea. Asking what it *does*, in contrast, seems to allow for understanding ethics as inherently pluralistic; that is, as being composed of many different relations of constituting practices that function to stabilize the idea locally. The main difference, then, is that looking at what ethics does assumes that the idea of ethics – as well as its constituting practices (the concrete ethical relations) – may be treated as historically specific and therefore changeable rather than universally valid.

This, of course, involves studying the way ethics interconnects the sphere of ideas with the sphere of practices. Gilles Deleuze relates his (and Felix Guattari's) methodological approach in terms of analyzing arrangements in a way that could be said to serve as a model for this thesis. He writes as follows:

We set ourselves the task of analyzing mixed forms, arrangements, what Foucault called apparatuses. We set out to follow and disentangle lines rather than work back to points: a cartography, involving microanalysis (what Foucault called the microphysics of power, and Guattari the micropolitics of desire). We looked for foci of unification, nodes of totalization, and processes of subjectification in arrangements, and they were always relative, they could always be dismantled in order to follow some restless line still further. We weren't looking for origins, even lost or deleted ones, but setting out to catch things where they were at work, in the middle: breaking things open, breaking words open. We weren't looking for something timeless, not even the timelessness of time, but for new things being formed, the emergence of what Foucault calls 'actuality'. (Deleuze, 1990/1995: 86)

In the present thesis, investigating 'processes of subjectification in arrangements' means looking at how an idea about ethics interacts with various practices so as to be able to determine what – given the ethical framework of the institutional setting of Swedish ECE – children can do, say and become. As such, focusing on the constraints of a particular form of ethics (as it is played out in practice) serves to open up for alternative ways of understanding ethics; understanding ethics not as an already solved problem (that may need to be better implemented), but as a never finished, and never fully stabilized, problem in need of constant work.

Let us begin by taking a concrete example.

An exemplification

A national curriculum is an interesting document as it provides valuable insights into what it is to be and to become human in a given place at a given time in history. It provides a glimpse into what is 'thinkable' and what is 'knowable' in a specific historical

context and it tells us something about the normative aspirations and hopes of a given society at that particular point in time. If we understand education to be about changing people (see Popkewitz, 2007) then a curriculum may inform us about what the conditions for those processes of change are. It may provide a paradigmatic example, if you will: an example to be 'deactivated from its normal use, not in order to be moved into another context but, on the contrary, to present the canon – the rule – of the use, which can not be shown in any other way' (Agamben, 2008/2009: 18). In a sense then, such an example may function as an indicator of the practical limits of knowledge. It is with this in mind that I wish to start by quoting the Swedish curriculum for the pre-school. Under the heading of 'Norms and values' the following statement may be read:

The pre-school should strive to ensure that each child develops [...] their ability to discover, reflect on and work out their position on different ethical dilemmas and fundamental questions of life in daily reality. (Skolverket, 1998: 8)

The purpose for relating the above quote is twofold. First, it serves to establish an explicit link between working with ethics and the institutional setting of ECE. Second, it demonstrates a potential problem within the discourse in that it rather unproblematically asserts the normative ambition of shaping young children so as to render them capable of navigating in ethical dilemmas. The most immediate question then, of course, is what – from the perspective of the curriculum - is to be regarded as an ethical dilemma and how does one go about when reflecting on and working with it? This, in turn, raises questions about what an ethical life consists of and about how to identify the fundamental questions of life. The curriculum referred to provides us with clues insofar as it appeals to democratic foundational values such as '[t]he inviolability of human life, individual freedom and integrity, the equal value of all people, equality between the genders as well as solidarity with the weak and vulnerable' (Skolverket, 1998: 3), in what may be read as a general appeal to the normative ideal of universal human rights.

This leads me to circle in on my research problem. That is, what is the connection between the conditions of the ethical framework of human rights – as exemplified and put to work by ECE in Sweden – and what is 'thinkable' and 'knowable' in this specific context? And, in extension, how does one teach and learn about what being human means by way of establishing and codifying ethical norms? In order to approach these questions in a tangible way I will first turn to my own experiences as a researcher studying the work with ethics in ECE and I will then give a brief example of how the work with ethics may turn out in practice.

Over the course of writing this dissertation I have been fortunate enough to have been invited to different research seminars to present parts of the thesis. One of the interesting things I have found when doing this is that claiming to investigate the conditions of a normative ideal³ – such as the human rights framework – is often perceived as problematic in itself. Several times I have sensed that whereas analyzing and problematizing different implementations of a normative ideal is perceived as both interesting and necessary, the opposite seems to be - in my experience - true for studying its conditions. That is to say, when looking at ways in which implementations may fail or be misdirected there is still a general trust displayed towards the normative ideal in itself – that is, we presuppose that we at least share a common understanding of the importance of the values relied on or appealed to – whereas focusing on the conditions of the normative ideal appears to communicate an almost unhealthy distrust in fundamental values, to the point that one is suspected of not wanting to do good in the first place. This, I suspect, might in fact indicate that one is approaching the conceptual limits for what is 'thinkable' and 'knowable' in a particular context.

Returning to the above quote, one might be led to believe that working with ethics in ECE relies on us simply accepting the domi-

³ This approach is informed by Deleuze's and Guattari's proposal that: 'The first principle of philosophy is that Universals explain nothing but must themselves be explained' (Deleuze & Guattari, 1991/1994: 7).

nant understanding of what ethics is and how the process of learning to become an ethical subject works – implying that it is a fully automatized process depending upon our supposedly inherent ability as rational subjects to reflect on and reason our way out of ethical dilemmas. When read in terms of a paradigmatic example, we might even suppose that it comes with a tacit understanding that we are in fact not supposed to look beyond it. Drawing focus from what it means to reflect on something and to reason about something tends to add a mysterious gloss to this complicated process where its components are largely unknown and therefore understood to be beyond our reach. This, in turn, appears to favor a conception of ethics where importance is placed on learning to recognize an ethical action as an action that corresponds to the normative ideal. This leads me to another brief example.

In the context of ECE, I first came upon this problem – the inherent struggle connected with the conditions for shaping ethical subjects – when I was introduced to the internationally fast-spreading project of education for sustainable development (ESD). This introduction took place in a Swedish pre-school where children and teachers were working on an educational theme derived from the program of Green Flag (Grön Flagg), a Swedish rendition of the international network Eco-Schools, targeting the issue of sustainable development in education.

Watching young children (age one to three) sorting garbage under the pretext that they were actively contributing to a global project working towards an ethically sustainable world gave rise to questions concerning the presumed relation between individual expressions and normative ideals: a relation that seemed to be more or less taken for granted within the discourse of ESD. It appeared to say something important about the status of childhood and childhood institutions as political instruments in terms of their importance for establishing normative ideals that are assumed to exist apart from any specific context and for laying the foundations for such an ethics, ensuring its wide circulation throughout society.

Why study early childhood when asking questions about the conditions of ethics and, in turn, whether abstract ideas about ethics are translatable into educational practice? A possible answer to

this question would be because early childhood is where we – as a society – invest our shared beliefs about what the world should be like and what life should be like. Childhood, in this sense, is conceptualized as a politically important instrument insofar as it becomes burdened with the normative hopes and aspirations aiming – on the highest level – at ensuring the survival of the human species and the natural environment. The fields of early childhood and ECE, then, may be perceived in terms of concrete expressions of how the relation between ethical principles and human interaction is typically conceptualized and it may also serve to illustrate some of the inherent limits with what I will identify as the dominant form of ethics: an ethics that relies on a conception of the self as divided⁴ and that appeals to the recognition of formal principles when evaluating human actions and interactions.

_

⁴ The notion of the self as divided harks back to the ancient Greek understanding of the mind and the body as being composed of two distinct substances (making for a metaphysical dualism that lends support to the doctrine of the immortality of the soul); a notion that Descartes confirmed when differentiating between extended (non-thinking) and non-extended (thinking) things on the most basic ontological level (Descartes, 1641/1996: 54).

AIMS AND SCOPE OF THE THESIS

The purpose of this thesis is to critically examine how ethical principles are conceptualized and applied in educational contexts, focusing on the intersection of early childhood education (ECE) and education for sustainable development (ESD).

Its main contribution to educational research and to the field of educational philosophy in particular is to:

- discuss the presumed connection between ethical principles and individual actions and how this connection may be said to frame the understanding and application of ethics in concrete educational situations.
- problematize the conditions for how ethics is understood and applied by examining empirical examples of disturbances in the relation between ethical principles and its individualizations, informed by a philosophy of immanent ethics.

The empirical data that provides the four different studies in this compilation thesis with a basis for analysis are drawn from material on different levels. What all data samples have in common is that they have been considered to display a paradigmatic value insofar as they tell us something important about the conditions for conceptualizing and applying ethics in ECE. ESD has been selected, as a specific field of interest, precisely because it focuses on ethical questions and because it may be understood in terms of what

Hemrica and Heyting (2004) labels an *institutionalized communication device* that serves to disseminate pedagogical tools aimed at facilitating an ethical discourse within the field of education. Moreover, ESD is of particular interest as it serves to connect the field of education with a broader social project in the common quest for an ethically sustainable global community. In addition, official statements on childhood and sustainable development are drawn from continuously as they are taken to represent a codification of shared ethical values and as such they provide a material substitute for the formal ethical framework relied on. Consequently, they are taken to provide a fair image of the ethical framework appealed to when evaluating actions in an educational context.

In the first study included, 'Evaluating Life' (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011), the empirical material is drawn mainly from the Swedish project of Green Flag which is an educational program for working with ESD aimed at all pedagogical practices. The Green Flag material is relevant for my purposes here as it represents the largest environmental educational network in Sweden and as it is a branch of the international project of Eco-Schools which interconnects 40 different countries in an (internationally called for) investment in ESD. As the study aims to analyze the Green Flag material in terms of a concrete example of how abstract values are conceptualized and applied in an educational context, and as it serves to illustrate how these values are being transported from the level of normative ideals to the level of individualizations, it also looks at some key political statements that make for internationally recognized codifications of ethical values. These include official documents on sustainable development, on education, as well as on children's rights.

'Evaluating Life' responds to both aspects of the purpose of this thesis as it describes how the ethical framework of Green Flag presupposes that individual actions performed by children correspond to and are constrained by pre-given ethical principles and as it seeks to introduce a more locally grounded understanding of ethics which troubles the notion that individual actions may be decontextually judged in a universal sense.

The second study included, 'On Childhood and the Logic of Difference' (Dahlbeck, 2012), is concerned with investigating some of the preconditions of contemporary childhood such as it is communicated through official documents on children's rights in order to open up for other thinkable ways of conceiving childhood; ways that are less concerned with unifying childhood and more inclined to acknowledge the inherently differential nature of childhood. It is argued that rather than adjusting any individual expression of childhood in accordance with the inherently limited and perspectival concept of childhood, breathing life into the concept so that each unique expression adds to the concept rather than disqualifying any expression that does not readily serve to validate the concept would open up for a more dynamic conception of childhood. For the purposes of this overall thesis, it serves to map and to trouble a foundational notion of childhood such as it is communicated through national and international political discourses and through the concrete examples more specifically related with ESD. The empirical data analyzed are composed of the three key children's rights documents spanning from 1924 to 1989. In addition, a brief overview of the development of western childhood is provided in order to contextualize the modern conception of childhood and in order to identify some gaps within the official discourse that may open up for different conceptions of childhood.

This study is primarily focusing on the first aspect of the purpose of this thesis as it seeks to delimit the ethical subject (or subject-in-the-making) of the child in relation to the overarching framework of values by which it is constrained. It serves to illustrate that the idea of childhood is contingent rather than fixed and that as such it may be understood in terms of a historically conceived political instrument for furthering foundational ideas about how we should live. As children everywhere are understood to be automatically oriented towards the same ethical principles, the children's rights project may be understood in terms of a political project for establishing a common for all framework of normative ideals which in turn has implications for how we may conceive of individual childhoods.

In the third study, "Needle and Stick" Save the World' (Dahlbeck & De Lucia Dahlbeck, 2012), we study a particular expression - the Swedish TV-series Needle and Stick Save the World - of the ESD discourse in order to make visible the underlying logic - the logic of separation - that enables a certain order (in terms of the social organization of life) but that at the same time serves to disqualify any other notion of what childhood and a good life could be. From the point of view of the overall thesis it also connects the project of education with this underlying logic and in doing so it returns to some of the key political statements (such as national curricula and official documents on sustainable development and children's rights) in order to trace this logic from a local expression to a national and international political level. The TVseries Needle and Stick is deemed to be a paradigmatic example of some importance as it is governmentally produced and distributed - ensuring a wide national audience - and as it conceptualized in terms of an educational tool to be utilized in ECE institutions when working with the project of ESD.

This study focuses on the second aspect of the purpose of this thesis as it sets out to destabilize the notion that human rational activity is the central productive force propelling the progression of the natural world. In doing so it also destabilizes the foundational idea that human rational activity is exceptional in the sense that it benefits from privileged access to universal ethical principles (through the presumed faculty of reason). As this idea is central for ESD in general, and *Needle and Stick* in particular, we claim that by illustrating the arbitrariness of the ethical framework relied on, it may be called for to engage in a more in depth discussion on the conditions of ethics within the discourse of ESD rather than focusing exclusively on establishing ever more implementations of the existing framework.

Finally, in the fourth study included, 'Towards a Pure Ontology' (Dahlbeck, 2011), the empirical material is provided by, on the one hand, a personal reflection about the meaning-making process underlying the practice of displaying laminated signs with ethical values in a Swedish ECE context. On the other hand, it draws on a philosophical discourse (studying texts of Spinoza, Nietzsche, and

Deleuze) on the tensions between an ontology of identity – where Being is defined in terms of recognizing material expressions as mere instances of preconceived categories – and an ontology of difference – where Being is understood in terms of an immanent process where the material world is understood to give rise to shared ethical ideas in a reciprocal sense.

In this final study I focus on both aspects of the purpose in that, on the one hand, I aim to describe the conditions of the existing ethical framework as founded upon the recognition of individual actions as instances or reflections of already established ideals, and in that, on the other hand, I outline an alternative ethical framework grounded in an ontology of difference.

Having formulated the aims and described the scope I will now turn to the overall disposition of this thesis in order to facilitate the general orientation of the reader.

OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS

In what follows I will first make some clarifying notes about the use of the concept of childhood before contextualizing this thesis by relating the interconnecting fields of ECE and ESD with one another. I will make some all-to-brief notes on the history of ECE in Sweden and on the concept of sustainable development and the emerging international practice of ESD. I will also touch upon the conception of childhood as a political instrument by trying out the notion of *the child as messenger* (see Dahlbeck & Tallberg Broman, 2011). As this thesis is not a comparative historical analysis, this section is designed to provide a practical starting point for the philosophical and educational discussion to follow, and as such it serves to indicate some historical references relevant for connecting ECE in Sweden with the emerging global practice of ESD.

Having contextualized the convergence of ECE in Sweden and ESD, I turn to the concept of cosmopolitan education (and to the concept of universalism) in order to place the current trend of ESD within a relevant educational field of interest and in order to relate the different educational projects to a common ethical framework. This framework, I conclude, is one that may be understood in terms of an ethics very much influenced by Kantian idealism. In this section I provide a brief description of the educational discourse of cosmopolitanism and I relate some relevant critique of the notion of cosmopolitan education with regards to ethics.

As I argue that ESD may be understood in terms of an expression of cosmopolitan education, and as contemporary cosmopolitan education is commonly associated with the ethical philosophy

of Immanuel Kant, next I set out to provide a fairly detailed account of Kantian ethics. The purpose for doing this is twofold. On the one hand the purpose is to provide a deeper understanding of the ethical framework (and its conditions) relied on within ESD, being a form of cosmopolitan education relying on values appealed to within the human rights framework. On the other hand, it serves to illustrate some inherent limitations of this ethical framework: limitations that I argue are to be considered intrinsic to the codification of Kantian ethics.

As a response to the limitations of codifying Kantian ethics I turn to the immanent ethics of Nietzsche and Deleuze. I do this partly in order to outline a philosophical alternative to the framework of Kantian ethics, but more importantly I do this in order to be able to formulate a philosophically grounded contribution to the discussion on ethics and education, moving from an ethics primarily concerned with facilitating the recognition of already established ethical ideals to an ethics focusing on the creation of new values.

At this point I draw up some suggestions concerning how to approach ethics and education in a manner that is more sensitive to the perspectival nature of knowledge. I refer to this pedagogy as affective learning. In doing so I reconnect the ethical writings of Nietzsche and Deleuze with the ethics of Spinoza (a connection that is established and elaborated in 'Towards a Pure Ontology' (Dahlbeck, 2011)) and I provide an account of some of the possible implications of affective learning informed by some recent contributions within the field of educational philosophy.

Next, I will situate the present thesis within the interconnecting fields of ethics and education focusing primarily on educational studies grounded in traditions of the philosophy of ethics. I will refer to Swedish as well as international studies but as the present thesis is set in a Swedish context I will pay extra attention to studies related to Swedish conditions.

Having done this I set out to describe the methodological foundations of this thesis, making for an approach that is termed (borrowing from the work of Giorgio Agamben) working with paradigmatic examples. Next, the actual process of choosing and ana-

lyzing the various examples in the different studies included in this thesis is described in some detail.

Following the section on method there is a summary of each of the four studies included in the order in which they appear. I first motivate the order of presentation and then connect each study with the overarching purpose of the thesis and then proceed by giving a brief account of the content and findings of each of the studies.

To conclude, I offer some final thoughts on ethics, universalism, and education and on the relation between young children's learning and ethical frameworks.

Directly following the list of references, the four studies of this thesis are included.

ECE, ESD, AND THE CHILD AS MESSENGER⁵

Childhood as an abstract idea: what is a good childhood?

Before discussing the institutional setting of ECE in Sweden it is called for to make some brief comments about the concept of childhood and its relation to ethics and social change in a broader sense.

It is important to bear in mind that, for the purposes of the present thesis, childhood is understood and treated as an abstract idea rather than as a natural matter of fact. This means, in short, that the idea of childhood is perceived as socially and historically determined and that it is therefore understood to be subject to change (Ariès, 1960/1962). Consequently, childhood understood in this sense may be described in terms of a social construction, indicating that its ascribed meaning is continuously being shaped and reshaped under the influence of a flux of historical events, social forces, shared beliefs, cultural practices, and everyday experiences and actions (James & James, 2004: 13; Hacking, 1999: 2).

⁵ Parts of this chapter were drawn from a previously published book-chapter coauthored with Ingegerd Tallberg-Broman (Dahlbeck & Tallberg Broman, 2011).

⁶ For childhood to be understood as a natural matter of fact, its discrete objects – the individual members of the category of childhood – need to be perceived as being joined metaphysically by a transcendent and universal idea of childhood. That is, the essence of childhood must be presumed to precede the concrete and discrete examples so that it can function by turning many different objects into instances of the same, i.e. into full members of the category. Childhood, in this sense, is taken to exist independent of social forces – by virtue of its transcendent origin – and would therefore be construed as a natural matter of fact rather than as a facilitative idea set up so as to serve to alleviate the cognitive process of making sense of the world.

While it is certainly true that childhood is an idea that is concretely manifested in the particular bodies of particular children, it is equally true that these particular children cannot be completely encompassed by their corresponding idea in any full sense. That is, the essence of the idea of childhood cannot simply be equated with the individual body of any given child. Another way to put it is to say that any given child is always more than the identity of a child; it is always also a brother, a sister, a friend, a son, or a daughter etc. While this inherent plurality seems to hold true for all things to which ideas refer (Smith, 2003), childhood is particularly interesting as it is contained by and subsumed via the abstract convention of age rather than by physical attributes or tangible abilities.

You could very well argue that a child is denoted by inherent characteristics such as softness in the skin, limited motor skills, vulnerability, developing speech abilities, or small size, but any one of these characteristics could just as well be denoting other individuals that are not necessarily classified as children. Connecting an abstract idea with a concrete thing, then, always involves making a selection, giving preference to certain characteristics while disregarding others. Nadler relates a Spinozan understanding of universals that serves to explain this relation well. He writes:

Universals are abstract concepts that are ordinarily derived from attending to certain aspects common to a number of ideas of things and ignoring others (namely, those wherein the ideas differ from one another), and thereby forming a distinct but not necessarily clear idea of only those common features. (Nadler, 2006: 176)

In legal terms at least, the idea of childhood is primarily delimited by the convention of age. As such, childhood can be understood in terms of a social and political convention constructed so as to facilitate the social organization of a particular form of society. In the light of this (as I argue in 'On Childhood and the Logic of Difference' (Dahlbeck, 2012)), universal documents such as the Convention on the Rights of the Child are not simply reflecting childhood in an innocent and unprejudiced way, but are social and historical

documents constructed for the purpose of furthering the normative ideals reflected in a particular conception of what society *should* be like.

Accordingly, any normative claims made with regards to the idea of childhood – that children should not work for example – must be considered social and political conventions, primarily serving the purpose of furthering a particular form for organizing the social world (Cunningham 2005: 140-146). In a differently conceived social order, for instance, there would be no reason to posit that children should not work (as we have seen historically). This simply means that there is no reason to assume that there is anything natural about the fact that children are not supposed to work (in the sense that it is an inherent quality in the natural constitution of the child), but that given a particular social organization – i.e. the liberal welfare state – such a principle makes sense as it corresponds to the overall ethical framework relied on. In a different social, geographical and/or historical context it could very well be nonsensical. The idea of childhood, then, can be understood as a normative model for individuals to strive for so as to help secure the social model collectively aspired for.

This is clearly where ethics and childhood intertwine. Childhood, as it were, becomes an important piece in the puzzle of constructing and maintaining the modern welfare state. It may be conceived in terms of an instrument facilitating the distinction made between Good and Evil in a universal sense. Good and evil, from this perspective, are not taken to be immutable objective standards or natural features of the world but comes to represent 'an evaluative measure of the degree to which a thing corresponds to some stipulated standard or model' (Nadler, 2006: 215). From this we see that the idea of childhood, rather than being conceived as simply denoting a natural phase in every human being's life, can also be understood in terms of a politically viable instrument for working towards a specific model of social life which is especially beneficial for those people that are positioned at the center of this model as it were. A good childhood, then, is not simply a natural fact, but must be conceived of as being good from a particular point of view. Nadler explicates:

The evaluative labels [good and evil] are, likewise, always to be understood in the context of a thing's relationship to a standard or a model. Something is 'good' if it is a means to a chosen end. More particularly, it is good if it promotes what appears, in the light of that standard, to be an individual's well-being and helps move it closer to a stipulated ideal condition; and it is 'evil' if it is detrimental to what is perceived as to be an individual's well-being. The result is that 'good' and 'evil', like 'perfect' and 'imperfect', are totally relative terms (relative, that is, to the conception of some individual's interest), and what is good for one person may not be good for another person. (Nadler, 2006: 216)

The concept of childhood that is at the focus of the present thesis, then, is not to be confused with the individual or collective lifeworlds of children or the actual day-to-day lives and experiences of children, but refers instead to childhood as a commonly held idea understood to alleviate the cognitive process of making sense of and furthering a certain conception of the human social world. Accordingly, the social institution of ECE is taken to be an important instrument for engineering social change. As such, it appears called for to outline some historical notes on Swedish ECE, on the emerging project of ESD, and on the role of the child as a messenger advocating social change.

ECE in Sweden: the shaping of a better future

ECE in Sweden has been formulated in terms of an institution of modernity – founded on a firm belief in the potentials of institutional child rearing and pedagogy – towards the end of the 19th and the beginning of the 20th century. The establishing of ECE institutions was conditioned and actuated by major societal changes such as urbanization, industrialization, as well as subsequent changes in the family structure. The doctrine of German pedagogue Friedrich Fröbel – emphasizing the importance of play and children's own activities as key components of child rearing – act as an important point of reference in terms of connecting contemporary ECE practices with their historical roots. Fröbel aspired – through his work-

ing models – to teach children how to perceive connections in the natural environment. Some aspects of these models have been downplayed over the years but the focus on the natural environment, on holism, on contextualization, and on the importance of morality and ethics are made present through the predominant pedagogical ideals and the governing values of contemporary ECE practices in Sweden.

The doctrine of Fröbel – striving to develop practices for younger children with the intention of providing a solid framework based on useful values and knowledge – found a supportive tool in the female-intensive philanthropy of the time. The concept of philanthropy was used in the mid 19th century to denote a number of fostering and nurturing responsibilities carried out in order to cope with what was perceived as more or less serious threats to society. Through philanthropy, women were allowed access to what was previously considered out of bounds areas of society and the extent to which they could engage in social reformation publically were considerably increased in the process. For this reason philanthropy has been discussed in terms of female emancipation⁷ (Åberg, 1988; 1995). Philanthropism, described by Alva Myrdal as a pedagogy of the rational and the humane (Myrdal, 1935), provided a makeshift solution to the increasing demands for mass-education in Sweden. In recent times ECE and school institutions have been claimed to be confronted with the so-called postmodern doubt (Battail, 2005) in terms of questioning the hopes and expectations associated with Enlightenment and mass-education. Focus has been increasingly placed on the process of learning rather than on knowledge and the content of education as such. Even so, these institutions are still very much relying on the normative ambitions of working for a better society and a better future using the instruments of pedagogy and child rearing. ESD is a telling example of how these ambitions are still very much permeating the institutions concerned.

⁷ It should be noted, however, that in contrast to this understanding of the relationship between philantropism and female emancipation it has also been critically analyzed and has been found to be a dissonant rather than a harmonious one (see for example Hammar, 1999).

Traditions and values

In the early history of the Fröbel-inspired ECE practices focus was often placed on recreating what was perceived as lost values and opportunities. The content of education was prioritized and through this content the legacy of the earlier agrarian society was being preserved and perpetuated. Children were taught to churn butter, dip candles, to carpenter, and to craft. Practices such as sowing and reaping, gardening and land management were featured as important parts of the educational agenda and were carefully planned out. In contemporary research, the late modern history of Swedish ECE is often described as focusing more on the 'how' than the 'what' of education, which is typically being contrasted with the current trend of focusing on the 'what' as is visible in the curriculum for the Swedish pre-school (see Utbildningsdepartementet, 2010). When considering the early history of Swedish ECE, however, it is evident that the content - the 'what' - was prominently featured from the start. Through this content, then, an understanding of natural connections, of the surrounding world, of health and of moral and ethical values was being communicated. Extensive themes – often spanning over month-long periods of time - connecting various concrete practices with the natural world, the different seasons, the home, traditional festivities and crafts were believed to enable children to incorporate a foundational knowledge about, as well as establish a strong connection with, their immediate surroundings and their natural environment. Traditions linked with seasonal festivities such as Lucia, Christmas and Easter were carefully tended to and preserved and singing activities aiming to educate and to establish central values were frequently being performed. In a sense, this may be described in terms of an early form of value-system primarily dealing with promoting health, morality and cleanliness and towards combating what was perceived as subversive elements in society.

Pedagogical work was typically based on a center of interest [Monatsgegenstand] such as the sheep (from sheep to cardigan), the seed (from wheat ear to loaf of bread) or the seasons of the year (the fall being most prominently featured of these). For example, the Moberg sisters' collection of singing games for the kindergarten provides several examples of these focal points or centers of

interest (Tallberg-Broman, 2010; Moberg & Moberg, 1913; 1923). Firmly anchored in this tradition, Swedish ECE practices were part of a greater national and international project promoting pedagogic and social ideological values. Participating in an international movement with far greater aspirations than to just care for, educate, and foster young children distinguishes the early history of Swedish ECE.

Working with a center of interest, as a pedagogical principle, would seem to place a particular focus on impelling children to make broader connection and to appreciate a holistic understanding of the natural world (Tallberg-Broman, 1991; Morgenstern, 1867). More recent educational practices and the gradual transition from working according to the doctrine of Fröbel to working with themes seem to indicate that the overarching ambitions of working for a better childhood - promoting a better future and combating external threats - is still very much a central part of contemporary Swedish ECE. It is therefore reasonable to assume that these earlier examples may be considered predecessors of sorts to contemporary practices such as ESD. The focus on health (dietary and life style issues), for example, runs as a common thread through the history of Swedish ECE. The playful combating of 'the liquor troll' [brännvinstrollet] is followed by the dissemination of information about the hazards of alcohol and drug consumption. This is subsequently incorporated into a broader focus - through expressions of cosmopolitan education such as peace education – on 'peace on earth' and on spreading messages of peace. The common denominator in all of these efforts seems to be that children are conceived as being both the primary targets and the key disseminators of these messages of ethical values to be disseminated in their homes and to their respective families. As such, children are perceived to be holders of the keys to the future and as convenient links, by way of their parents, to society at large. This gives the child, as a political actor, a crucial role to play in the shaping of a future society.

This brief retrospect is intended to make visible some of the characteristics of the historical development of Swedish ECE in order to link the contemporary practice of ESD with some of its historical predecessors. It goes to illustrate that, much like their historical predecessors, contemporary ECE practices working with ESD are addressing children as messengers of ethical values with the ambition of establishing foundational moral ideas about what the human social world should be like. These moral ideas are then incorporated into the educational practice through suggested methods and through state-sanctioned teaching programs such as Green Flag (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011) and via state sanctioned educational television such as Needle and Stick Save the World for example (Dahlbeck & De Lucia Dahlbeck, 2012). Moreover, it may be noted that the dissemination of central ethical values through educational practices has been, and still is (in political and intellectual life), championed to a great extent by educated women with a high degree of social and cultural capital, connecting it with what may be labeled a philanthropic tradition. This tradition has been incorporated into - as well as functioning as a transformative agent of – pedagogical principles adjusted according to various national, local and culturally specific demands (class, gender, and ethnicity), while at the same time tapping into a rapidly growing international movement promoting a better childhood and a better future through the concrete project of ESD.

ESD as a transporter of ethical values

Sustainable development is, relatively speaking, a recent concept commonly claimed to originate in the so-called Brundtland report (WCED, 1987). The concept was formally established in the conference declaration of the global environment conference in Rio de Janeiro (UNCED, 1992), where the concept (in Principle 1 and 4) was launched as the core normative principle with regards to international protection of the environment. However, because the Rio Declaration lacks a definition of the concept it is customary to refer to the Brundtland report for this purpose. In the Brundtland report sustainable development is defined as 'development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs' (WCED, 1987: 43). The vagueness of this definition, however, leaves much room for interpretation. This makes it, on the one hand, vulnerable to critique on

account of its inherent vagueness, while on the other hand it is precisely this vagueness that enables it to encompass virtually any conceivable aspect of human relations, be it social, economic, or environmental.

In the context of ESD, the social dimensions of the concept have been given priority, which has meant that focus has been placed on establishing commonly held ethical values promoting a particular kind of human relations. Accordingly, values such as social equity are (as we discuss in 'Evaluating Life' (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011)) being promoted as parts of an ethical framework encompassing and including issues concerning environmental protection and/or economic development. As such, these issues are subordinate to a set of ethical values that provide a framework for working towards what is perceived as a more equal society. Hence, transmitting these values is of central concern for the project of ESD (Siraj-Blatchford, 2009; Pramling Samuelsson, 2008).

Education has been identified as an area of special relevance within the international discourse of sustainable development. It has been perceived as a means by which to instigate important social changes on a local as well on a global level. Accordingly, education has been described in terms of an efficient instrument for achieving the goals and for establishing and disseminating the values and the knowledge foundation held as central in international agreements such as Agenda 21 (2005) (UNESCO, 2007). More recently, focus has been increasingly placed on targeting ECE specifically (EPSD, 2010; Davies et al., 2009; Hägglund & Pramling Samuelsson, 2009). This, in turn, may be explained by the fact that ECE (by tradition) makes for a favorable channel through which families and, by extension, the whole of society, may be reached. Through ECE, young children (whose governing ethical values are still considered to be formable) may be accessed, and through the children one may access and influence the behavioral patterns of their families.

In a Swedish educational setting, ESD has resulted in the recent rapid uptake of projects such as Green Flag where focus is placed on establishing and disseminating commonly held ethical values (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011). These values may be un-

derstood in terms of ethical principles as they rely on children being able to judge concrete practices according to a fixed scale of 'right' and 'wrong'/good' and 'evil' in a universal sense. Working with different suggested educational tools, teachers are encouraged to instigate discussions on issues concerning quality of life and happiness versus consumerism, equity, solidarity and child labor and so forth. The premises for these discussions seem to suggest that children, in their daily lives (when selecting toys in their local tov store for instance), are acting as agents on a global political level (implying that child laborers may be potential producers of some of the toys). As such, everyday choices and decisions that children make are made to correspond with central ethical issues which in turn transform these seemingly insignificant decisions into potentially critical decisions. Even if the link between the local and the global often appears to be somewhat tenuous, the discourse of ESD appears to be founded on presuppositions about how rash decisions in everyday life are - in the long run - likely to result in global injustice and in an unequal distribution of resources.

Every conceivable aspect of human relations appears to be contained within the framework of ESD and the various practices – such as Green Flag - that make for its concrete components. For example, within the Green Flag theme of 'Lifestyle and health' anything from eating habits to democracy and global equity is being dealt with. This goes to illustrate that the relation between local practices and global trends is acting as an ever present focal point. This feature, in turn, can be traced back to the ambitions of Fröbel emphasizing the importance of having children perceive and appreciate the connectedness between themselves and the surrounding world. The difference is that there appears to have been a shift from looking more specifically at local relations – the immediately surrounding natural environment - to looking at presumed broader interrelations between the local and the global - including social and economic relations. To be sure, the local focus of Fröbelian pedagogy could be conceived as a concrete way of manifesting a very broad metaphysical connectedness far from local in its concern. In a sense, then, working with the immediate surroundings of the child would serve to illustrate a fundamental connectedness between the individual child and the natural world at large, albeit not in concrete political terms.

This shift from expressing a metaphysical connectedness through focusing on the materiality of the local environment to expressing it through presumed interrelations between local acts and global political relations, in turn, may be related to and discussed in terms of an expression of the broader project of cosmopolitan education that will be further dealt with in the next section. An important aspect of this focus on supposed holism seems to be that ESD is a normative project aiming to combat external threats to what may be described as a distinguishably Western model of (liberal) society. Despite the differences, the overarching aim of this project, then, is in many ways similar to that of earlier normative educational projects of the 19th and 20th centuries.

Suggested discussion topics of Green Flag such as 'Health maintenance for the soul – what makes us happy?' indicate that working with ESD involves much more than establishing a common knowledge base relevant for working with concrete environmental issues. Using environmental issues as a means for taking on the broader issue of what a good life is turns it into a strategy for establishing a desired value-system with the aspired goal of a sustainable future. The good life is functioning as a kind of symbol for a moral and health promoting struggle carried out against anything that may be taken to threaten this idea of a good life, be it excessive consumerism, bad eating habits or undemocratic phenomena in general. ECE, then, functions as a kind of seedbed for a movement aspiring to transform society and that addresses not only children but - via the children - all members of society. As in the earlier examples – such as 'the liquor troll' and the peace project – the child as messenger re-emerges as a prominent feature of the modern day practice of ESD. On the one hand, then, through ESD, the child emerges as a democratic citizen (or at least a democratic citizen-in-the-making) expected to partake in democratic decisionmaking in an educational context. But on the other hand, as these processes of decision-making are always subordinate to foundational values established a priori, one might propose that 'democratic citizenship is less a solution to political problems than a strategy of government' (Cruikshank, 1999: 1). Furthermore, it is interesting to note that ESD echoes earlier (governmentally sanctioned) educational projects (such as peace education) in that it makes for a normative project aiming to bring about profound changes in society by combating commonly held lacks, and to establish the necessary preconditions for what is understood to be a better future for all.

What appears to unite these various historical as well as contemporary expressions is the ambition to steer society (and its members) in a particular direction, indicating that there exists some form of pre-given consensual agreement about which foundational values to aspire for. These expressions, then, all appear to be guided by the normative ethical question: how *should* we live? This, in turn, implies a particular ethical framework relying on universal values; a framework that may be labeled transcendent as it appeals to values that are understood to be formally rather than materially conditioned. In order to strengthen the connection between such an ethical framework and education and to situate the practice of ESD within a relevant educational context it seems appropriate to turn to the concept of cosmopolitan education.

A NOTE ON UNIVERSALISM AND COSMOPOLITAN EDUCATION

Cosmopolitan education may be perceived in terms of an educational answer to the cosmopolitan challenge which may be very briefly related as follows: 'to make persons formed in their local community aware of their obligations and responsibilities to global others' (Rönnström, 2011: 280). This 'cosmopolitan pedagogical ideal' (Papastephanou, 2005: 534) - evoking images of 'students from diverse groups enjoying a common curriculum of universal logical and ethical principles and imaginative world literature to foster rational thinking about global ethical and political issues' (Waks, 2009: 589) - is widely understood to require some form of commonly held framework of foundational values so as to enable people everywhere to communicate across cultural and political borders. This major political and social challenge has been the object of many theoretical debates and has caused several influential thinkers - such as Kant (1795/1996), Nussbaum (1994), Habermas (1998/2001), Appiah (2006), Beck (2006), and Benhabib (2006), to name a few - to (in different ways and with varying degrees of critical attitude and appeal to universalism) tackle the problem of how to maintain a peaceful global community while ensuring the freedom of each individual without at the same time compromising the freedom of others. In this context, cosmopolitanism has sometimes been regarded as a potential solution to a global problem and sometimes as part of the global problem itself. Not surprisingly, education has come to be at the centre of many of these debates as it makes for a globally established social institution ideal for shaping future citizens, and, in extension, for shaping future societies (see Popkewitz, 2007; 2008).

Recalling the aforementioned shift in the history of Swedish ECE – from expressing universal connectedness through cultivating an appreciation and understanding of local relations to increasingly talking about global political relations and the presumed connections between local acts and global social changes – cosmopolitanism (in its many shapes and forms: from rooted to moderate to universalist cosmopolitanism) and cosmopolitan education may be understood in terms of related answers to a modern political challenge growing out of 'the recognition that previously isolated groups now live in close proximity, and this new reality gives rise to significant new opportunities as well as new challenges to be confronted and overcome' (Waks, 2009: 590).

And although there are divided opinions within the theoretical discourse of cosmopolitanism and cosmopolitan education as to whether to found a global community (and to base education) upon universal ethical principles⁸ or upon other forms of less universally inclined ethical frameworks such as communitarian particularism for instance (see Waks, 2009), it seems quite clear that within the official international discourse of ESD, as well as in the Swedish context of ECE, there is a strong tendency towards appealing to ethical universalism. This is perhaps not so surprising as the educational program of ESD may very well be considered a form of implementation of the human rights framework: a framework founded upon the appeal to universal ethical principles (as we discuss in the article 'Evaluating Life' (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011)). In fact, one might, as Thomas S. Popkewitz, argue that:

The reforms of society were to produce transcendent ethics in the search of progress built on human rights and the hospitality to others. The school pedagogy embodied that optimism of a future that was to be guided by the reason and rationality of cosmopolitanism. (Popkewitz, 2008: 1)

41

_

⁸ Martha Nussbaum being one of the most adamant contemporary advocators of this standpoint (see Nussbaum, 1994). For a less universalistic take on the cosmopolitan project see for example Appiah's (1994) reply to Nussbaum.

As such, transcendent ethics may be conceived of as playing a central role in the shaping of modern cosmopolitanism – as an expression of Enlightenment thought – heralding the supposedly inherent capacity of rational beings to establish communities guided by universal ethical principles and to utilize their free will in order to strive to progress towards an ethically sustainable global society. These ideals – marked by a strong belief in the virtue of rationality and the inherent goodness of the rational and free will – have come to characterize the modern image of thought insofar as they appear to permeate the foundations of all major social institutions of modernity, of which education is one of the most important. The appeal to rationality, in turn, has, as Popkewitz (2008) notes, led post-Enlightenment educational discourse to give rise to forms of education that 'teach a universal reason that tamed passions, desires, and sentiments' (104). This is something that we will have reason to return to in the next section as it indicates one of the major challenges of transcendent ethics: namely the problem of how to establish and maintain a link between the material world of experiences and the formal sphere of the moral law. Or, to put it differently, how to reconcile between the different parts – the rational and the instinctive/corporeal – of the divided self.

One way of approaching this problem, in the context of contemporary cosmopolitan education, is by perceiving of this link in terms of the educational shaping of rational subjects capable of acting (of their own accord) in accordance with the prevailing normative ideals. As such, the overarching educational task in a project such as ESD might be critically understood in terms of the making of 'subjects of responsibilization', whereby children are targeted 'as actors influencing family consumption practices through negotiation' (Larsson et al., 2010: 130-131) for instance. The tacit purpose of ESD, when viewed from this perspective, is one of shaping children into responsible citizens of the world (see for example Larsson, 2011). This, in turn, may be perceived in terms of historically conditioned technologies for facilitating 'the joining of the uncertainty of the future with stability and harmony of the processes and practices of action and reflection' (Popkewitz, 2007: 69) carried out within the meaning-making framework of transcendent ethics where reason and rationality are appealed to in terms of universal faculties rather than 'cultural practices that have historically ordered and generated principles for reflection and thought' (65).

In order to more fully understand the connection between ESD – as an expression of cosmopolitan education of sorts – and the normative ideals (embodied by the human rights framework) that it appeals to and seeks to implement, it seems called for to provide a more in depth account of the idea of transcendent ethics (and especially of the secularized form of transcendent ethics that appeals to universal reason rather than to a divine will) and to investigate its impact on modern educational thought and practice. One way of beginning to do this is to turn to Kantian ethics and its legacy for contemporary liberal education.

It appears important to note that what is being critically discussed in what follows is not Kant's account of ethics in itself but rather Kantian ethics such as it has come to be perceived through and incorporated within the conceptual apparatus of human rights and subsequently through discourses on education and ethics visible in projects such as ESD. In order to do this, however, I believe I need to outline some influential features of Kantian ethics – identified as originating in Kant's work – not for the purpose of evaluating the moral theory of Kant (for which it is clearly insufficient) but for the purpose of identifying some key elements therein that appear to have been most influential in terms of informing and molding the modern human rights discourse as well as contemporary liberal education and in terms of providing a secular ethical foundation for these to rely upon.

It is true that I may have (or, to anticipate, that I certainly have) a body that is very closely joined to me. But nevertheless, on the other hand I have a clear and distinct idea of myself, in so far as I am simply a thinking, nonextended thing; and on the other hand I have a distinct idea of body, in so far as this is simply an extended, nonthinking thing. And accordingly, it is certain that I am really distinct from my body, and can exist without it.

- René Descartes, Meditations on First Philosophy, Sixth Meditation: 78

ON THE CONDITIONS OF INDIVIDUALIZING NORMATIVE IDEALS: CONTEMPORARY EDUCATION AND THE GOOD WILL

The Kantian legacy

Why, then, does Kantian ethics appear to offer a suitable starting point for a thesis on how ethics is conceptualized and applied in contemporary education? Before attempting to answer this question it goes without saying that it offers but one of many possible starting points. It does, however, single itself out in the sense that if the ethics communicated through contemporary liberal education is understood to be secularized – in the sense that it appeals to human reason⁹ rather than to a divine will – then Kant may be understood as representing a decisive breakpoint in the history of the philosophy of ethics: a breakpoint that is crucial for understanding the modern development of ethics. This is so as Kant formulated a comprehensive ethical theory where ethics is not conceived as being dependent upon a divine will but one that is based instead on the presumed ability of rational beings to make correct decisions in relation to a universal moral law rather than in relation to a divine law.10 And as we will see in this thesis, ESD (as an expression of

⁹ Reason is defined by Kant as 'the faculty of principles', being the faculty that 'determines the interest of all the powers of the mind but itself determines its own' (Kant, 1788/1996: 236).

¹⁰ It is worth noting, however, that critics – most notably perhaps Arthur Schopenhauer – of Kantian ethics argue that it is in fact an ethics very much dependent upon a theological framework in order to make sense as it relies on central theological concepts such as *duty* and *law* (in an unconditioned and universal sense) which appears to imply a duty towards a higher being (which in Kant's case is em-

cosmopolitan education) provides us with contemporary examples of how this idea is put into practice through various educational methods relying on this supposedly inherent ability of the autonomous individual to navigate in ethical dilemmas using a map of universal morals. As Nodding (2007) notes: '...under the influence of Kant, ethics became highly individualistic; that is, ethics was liberated from the authority of the church, ruler, and even community and was thought instead to rest on the individual's "good will" and logic' (177–178). The idea of 'the good will' appears to make for a foundational belief in terms of how ethics (in modern terms) is thought to travel from the sphere of abstract ideas to the material world. This requires some further explications however.

Kant postulates that normative ideals precede the concrete actions that they correspond to or are claimed to give rise to. In this sense, the principles are believed to exist a priori while the actions arise a posteriori as they (by virtue of their essence) belong to the empirical world. The empirical world, in turn, is not to be mixed up with the pure (formal) sphere of the principles other than through the temporary connections established (by reason) when an action is performed for the sake of the principle (Kant, 1785/1996: 45). When a normative ideal is individualized, then, the principle is duly recognized while at the same time the action as such may be motivated based on its affinity with the principle invoked. The action is appointed its ethical value based on its relative proximity to the principle (Smith, 2007: 67), regardless of circumstances such as in what context and by whom or why the action is being performed. Correspondingly, the motivation for the action is ideally to be found in what Kant labels the good will¹¹ which may be understood in terms of the underlying link between normative ideals and the actions that they give rise to (Kant, 1785/1996: 49). The good will - being a capacity grounded in reason - serves to motivate and guarantee actions as corresponding with or conform-

bodied by reason rather than God). Schopenhauer explicitly criticizes Kant for constructing an ethics implicitly relying on the presumed existence of a higher being while at the same time explicitly denying the same, rendering it in Schopenhauer's view a rather badly concealed and insufficiently grounded form of theological morality (see Schopenhauer, 1840/1998: 53–55).

¹¹ In this context, the will should be understood as 'a capacity to choose *only that* which reason independently of inclination cognizes as practically necessary, that is, as good' (Kant, 1785/1996: 66).

ing to the principles for which sake they are performed. Without the guidance of the good will (a kind of built-in transporter of normative ideals) the action risks appearing as arbitrary or even egoistic as the acting individual (unable or unwilling to adhere to a good will) is then left at the mercy of natural inclinations and affects that are notoriously whimsical and untrustworthy. In order to be able to suppress and control ones natural inclinations and ones passions and desires in the right manner and for the right reasons, the autonomous individual must learn to utilize the underlying good will that is supposedly capable of counteracting these (empirically based) impulses and urges.

The good will functions as a rational guiding force steering the actions of a person; a force that enables a person – motivated by duty, not by affects or desires – to regulate behaviors and suppress subjective desires in accordance with normative ideals rather than in favor of more or less short term personal gains. As such, it may be described in terms of an ever present corrective in the form of a reliable moral compass. In order for this type of self-governing behavior to be effective, however, it needs to be internalized 12 and automatized. For the good will to function smoothly without excessive disciplinary measures, education (along with the other key institutions of society) in its many forms is relied on to give shape to ethical subjects. As such, a central aspect of education may be understood in terms of a training process that serves to facilitate the recognition of ethical choices and to automatize behaviors in accordance with the good will. In doing so it latches on to a social project concerned with the 'gradual shaping of social life into a recognizable (reasonable) pattern' (Fitzsimons, 2007: 560). This to align the will of the individual with the prevailing normative ideal – may be interpreted as the key role of education with respect to the administration of ethical principles. The goal to strive for may be formulated in terms of a practical principle postulating 'the idea of the will of every rational being as a will giving universal law (Kant, 1785/1996: 81).

_

¹² Kant writes that: 'For, the ends of a subject who is an end in itself must as far as possible be also *my* ends, if that representation is to have its *full* effect on me' (1785/1996: 81).

Before looking in some detail into the ways in which education engages with ethics (that is, looking at how normative ideals are approached, applied, and individualized in an educational context), it seems called for to outline some of the basic conditions of Kantian ethics.

Some conditions of Kantian ethics

The ethics formulated by Kant appears to presuppose (among other things):

- 1. the existence of (formal) ethical principles preceding any actions subjected to judgment
- 2. that empirical phenomena are measurable in relation to these principles
- that ethical principles serve to facilitate the suppression and governance of a person's natural inclinations and desires, implying in turn that these are to be understood in terms of an ever present threat against an ethically sustainable social world

The first condition involves understanding the faculty of reason as belonging (by right) to a different sphere altogether than the empirical world. Pure reason, as it were, has the inherent ability to transcend the empirical world and may therefore be said to originate from the pure sphere of the principles (in the same sense that Plato's Ideas are inherently separated from the sphere of the simulacra). An ethics that is founded on the distinction made between actions (being of a material nature) and principles (being of a formal nature) can be described as transcendent. This, in turn, means that ethical principles, in this case, are not to be considered founded on experience but rather as existing *a priori*. That is, the ethical framework is founded on knowledge about events that precede the actual events. Being informed by principles that exist *a priori*, this ethical framework is inherently able to guide every rational being and tell us how we *should* act in any given situation without as-

suming that we know (or that we have to know) anything about the circumstances leading up to that situation. Kant explains:

From what has been said it is clear that all moral concepts have their seat and origin completely a priori in reason, and indeed in the most common reason just as in reason that is speculative in the highest degree; that they cannot be abstracted from any empirical and therefore merely contingent cognitions; that just in this purity of their origin lies their dignity, so that they can serve us as supreme practical principles; that in adding anything empirical to them one subtracts just that much from their genuine influence and from the unlimited worth of actions; that it is not only a requirement of the greatest necessity for theoretical purposes, when it is a matter merely of speculation, but also of the greatest practical importance to draw its concepts and laws from pure reason, to set them forth pure and unmixed, and indeed to determine the extent of this entire practical or pure rational cognition, that is, to determine the entire faculty of pure practical reason. (Kant, 1785/1996: 65)

The second condition concerns the administration of the relation between principles and individual actions. For an action to be judged as morally sound in a general sense it has to be evaluated without prejudice. That is, the evaluation can be neither arbitrary nor subjective. To solve this dilemma (without having to appeal to a divine will) Kant introduces the categorical imperative saying that: 'We must be able to will that a maxim of our action become a universal law: this is the canon of moral appraisal of action in general' (Kant, 1785/1996: 75). A maxim, in Kantian terms, is the subjective principle of acting which must then be made to correspond with and conform to the objective principle, that which Kant calls the practical law, in order for it to be properly guided by the good will. The guiding principle for individual actions - communicated through the maxim - is a form of test that every individual action has to pass: a test that serves to establish whether the action truly is 'consistent with the idea of humanity as an end in itself (Kant, 1785/1996: 80). This idea is then taken to correspond with a practical law that precedes all conceivable actions that are subsequently judged in accordance with it: a law that is taken to exist a priori and is therefore to be considered transcendent (that is, it is formally rather than materially determined). When it comes to administering this relation (between principle and action) it appears likely that instruments such as universal documents on human rights, for instance, have come about (in modern times) in order to facilitate and instrumentalize the evaluation of individual actions (individualizations) according to practical principles (normative generalities). As such, this concerns a codification of principles connecting certain types of actions with certain purposes in order to facilitate the identification of a given action as being either ethical or unethical. These codifications (such as universal documents on human rights, for instance) function as material substitutes of sorts for the principles (being purely formal and therefore unattainable in any material sense) and will come to represent the practical law in case of a public evaluation. In other words they form a kind of concretizised link between ethical principles and actions through which the good will may identify an action as corresponding or agreeing with a principle.

In order to deepen our understanding of the third listed condition we may consider the following passage from Kant's *Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals*:

The human being feels within himself a powerful counterweight to all the commands of duty, which reason represents to him as so deserving of the highest respect – the counterweight of his needs and inclinations, the entire satisfaction of which he sums up under the name happiness. (Kant, 1785/1996: 59)

The task for reason, then, is to – by adhering to the good will – seek to overcome the needs and desires that struggle for domination over which is to be the guiding principle of the actions. Hence, it may be derived from this that it is every rational being's responsibility to ensure that his or her actions are truly performed by duty, regardless if the action appears to be dutiful or not, which in any case does not necessarily mean that it is performed with duty

as its principle driving force but may equally well mean that the duty and the inclination just happens to coincide temporarily. Because, as Kant explains:

From love of humankind I am willing to admit that even most of our actions are in conformity of duty; but if we look more closely at the intentions and aspirations in them we everywhere come upon the dear self, which is always turning up; and it is on this that their purpose is based, not on the strict command of duty, which would often require self-denial. (Kant, 1785/1996: 62)

To be able to separate actions performed by duty from actions that rather happens to coincide with duty one has to be able to control and suppress ones inner drives - inclinations, preferences, needs, and desires, etc. – as these may be said to influence ones reason by, as it were, putting on the costume of duty for their own subjective purposes. In this sense, the relation between duty and ethical principles is constantly being threatened by disturbances from inner desires and inclinations. Desires and inclinations, in turn, originate from the empirical world (that is they do not exist a priori but are materially conditioned) which means that whatever influence they have on reason (with regards to ethical judgments) is to be understood as 'highly prejudicial to the purity of morals' which is why we must turn to the good will in order to safeguard the inviolability in 'the principle of action being free from all influences of contingent grounds, which only experience can furnish' (Kant, 1785/1996: 77).

Kantian ethics and education: recognizing ethics, or, learning to make the 'right' choice

As the purpose of the present thesis is not to formulate a critique of Kantian ethics as such – as this implies far greater philosophical labor than the present thesis, being of an educational nature, allows for – the focus should rather be on the codification (i.e. the implementation via documents that function as material stand-ins for the formal principles) of Kantian ethics such as it is carried out in the

human rights discourse. The human rights discourse is understood to be a tangible representation of a transcendent ethical framework, providing ethical principles to be implemented in various forms of cosmopolitan education (such as ESD). This approach appears to open up for a critical examination of the effects of the implementation of a predominant (secularized) ethical framework (or evaluative system) in the educational intersection of ECE and ESD.

Before looking closer at how a contemporary educational discourse such as ESD can be understood through a lens of Kantian ethics, however, it seems called for to briefly comment more generally on the relation between Kantian ethics and the development of Western education.

Fitzsimons (2007) places Kantian ethics in a central position in relation to modern Western education, emphasizing the importance of the idea of the rational beings' supposed access to the good will for education as an Enlightenment project. He concludes that:

The rational 'self' is the subject of modernity and of Enlightenment thought, and so evolved as the focus for education in Western society. Based on the idea of the reasoned will, the Kantian subject is supposedly capable of free choice and moral autonomy. (Fitzsimons, 2007: 560)

One of the key roles of education, then, from a Kantian point of view, would be to allow children and students to train themselves in the ability to recognize – by relying on their inherent ability to use their faculty of reason – right from wrong in relation to a universal moral law (as opposed to a divine law). Accordingly, in his lectures on education Kant notes that: 'The human being shall make himself better, cultivate himself, and, if he is evil, bring forth morality in himself' (Kant, 1803/2007: 441). This type of self-governing behavior – serving to familiarize oneself with and to learn to act according to a universal moral code – may be understood as the foremost aspect of the Kantian legacy for Western education and can be interpreted in terms of a 'prescription for internalizing the moral law' (Fitzsimons, 2007: 563). In short, it con-

cerns being able to recognize individual actions as conforming to a moral law that exists *a priori*, and then to learn to make the right choices based on this knowledge of a universal framework of ethics. Accordingly, Kant proposes that the key to moral education is for the child/student to be able to establish connections between particular actions and the universal moral law using their faculty of reason. He suggests that:

Understanding is the knowledge of the universal. The power of judgment is the application of the universal to the particular. Reason is the faculty to see the connection of the universal with the particular. (Kant, 1803/2007: 461–462)

Furthermore, this training in making moral judgments (adjusting subjective maxims so that they correspond with and conform to already established ethical principles) is conceptualized in terms of an ever present aspect of education – as a form of interdisciplinary element – serving to allow children and students to cultivate these capacities in a manner that allows them 'to practice them by combining them with other kinds of education' (Moran, 2009: 478). And as we shall see, the focus on having moral education permeate other forms of education – be it subject-based or theme-based – is one that rings true for the case of ESD which is designed to cover several subject areas or themes and in doing so provides a form of ethical framework for the entire educational practice (see Dahlbeck, 2011).

In sum, this central aspect of modern (moral) education – the cultivation of a reliable ethical compass – is one that resonates in the empirical examples drawn on in the different articles of this thesis, very much indicating the importance placed on being able to internalize and automatize an ethical code that is typically not spelled out explicitly but rather implicitly relied on as a form of precondition for appreciating the underlying ethical framework. Part and parcel of this project – of producing self-governing ethical subjects – appears to be a foundational idea emphasizing 'the value and importance of educating those concerned so that they discipline themselves, that is, develop both their character to constrain

themselves and their disposition to act upon sensuous inclinations' (Roth, 2011: 304). To be able to make good judgments of actions - as being either ethical or unethical depending on its relative proximity to or distance from a normative ideal – requires the ability to separate ones will – by appealing to reason and by postulating the moral duty as an end in itself - from ones inner drives and inclinations. This is so as the inner drives and inclinations – from a Kantian perspective – tend to cloud ones potentially unprejudiced view by introducing subjective aims and desires grounded in the empirical world and therefore being necessarily perspectival and prejudiced. From this point of view, moral education requires that the child/student is able and willing to look beyond inner desires and inclinations in order to perform a duty towards a normative ideal, an ideal which is then conceived of as an end in itself and as existing a priori in that it is conceived of as both independent of experience and as universal and necessary (Deleuze, 1978a). Consequently, to aspire for the normative ideal is conceived as a central part of the project of education. This aspiration, however, is conditioned by the degree to which we - being those who are educated - are able to coordinate our own will with the normative ideal that we are all understood to strive for. Unlike animals, Kant would argue, who are guided solely by their instincts (making them naturally determined) insofar as they rely on these to inform them about what choices to make in life, humans are endowed with a free will. Humans are therefore in need of education - as a governing instrument applied externally - so as to be able to coordinate their own will with the normative ideal that they are striving for. Because, as Giesinger points out:

The fact that we are naturally undetermined does not mean, for him [Kant], that our natural destiny is not fixed – morality is our destiny. To live as a moral agent, however, involves self-determination. We reach our destiny only when we are able to act autonomously in accordance with the moral law. (Giesinger, 2011: 7)

The coordination of these two (sometimes seemingly incompatible) foundational claims - the autonomy of the free will and the determinism of a transcendentalist framework¹³ - emerges as an important task for ESD (being a device for disseminating and implementing normative ideals) and as such it is visible in the Swedish implementational program of Green Flag (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011). Insofar as the overarching ambition of education - from a Kantian perspective - entails that human beings should 'acquire the disposition to choose nothing but good ends' (Kant, 1803/2007: 444) there emerges an interesting tension – visible in Kant's own lectures on education as well as in contemporary educational examples implicitly relying on a Kantian ethical framework - between learning to make use of one's own free will (through participatory decision making) and learning to make the 'right' choice with regards to a fixed normative ideal; that is, being able to identify an action as being in accordance with the prevailing moral law.

In sum then, moral education is not so much about learning to behave in a certain way as this is taken to be a potentially natural behavior given that as rational beings we are always subject to the moral law, whether we choose to adhere to it or not. Instead, it would be about learning to recognize and to identify (that is, to be made aware of) ethics in the sense that by connecting certain types of actions with certain maxims one is taught to constantly affirm the prevailing moral law. As such, the aim of moral education is to ensure that 'the agent becomes aware of, understands, and explicitly accepts what he has already presupposed' (Giesinger, 2011: 9).

Now, arguably, a moral education founded on Kantian ethics would not *have* to concern itself primarily with automatizing ethical decision-making in a decontextualized sense. Johnston (2007), for instance, expresses concern with what he takes to be an overly rigid and formal type of moral training that he claims is largely due to a misreading of Kant's ethical theory where *obeying* the moral law (i.e. learning to behave correctly) is given prominence over the actual *forming* of subjective maxims – which in his reading is the

-

¹³ For a lengthier discussion on the tensions between free will and determinism in education see Giesinger, 2010.

only conceivable way of accessing the moral law in any case. Rather than guiding children so as to have them make the 'right' choice in any given situation he proposes a take on moral education that is oriented towards conceptualizing the *process* of moral-maxim formation: that is, the ongoing testing out of different possible maxims in relation to different possible scenarios in order to find out what the moral validity of the maxim is in relation to the moral law. He proposes that:

Children thus begin learning 'the rules', how these rules are ordered, where and when they apply, and most importantly, how to make judgements of particular cases in light of these. Having internalized these rules, those cases that fit and those that do not, together with the resulting challenge to the rule, the child is ready to undertake *conscious* maxim-formation. (Johnston, 2007: 244)

Certainly, this type of more practical or experimentally inclined moral training makes for an interesting educational form to explore. However, it seems that in so far as Kantian ethics provides an epistemological foundation for constructing educational exercises on ethical decision-making, such as they appear in ESD for instance, there is a tendency to treat morality as a universally valid code for making ethical decisions. This, in turn, would seem to result in the rather pragmatic conclusion that morality is in fact something that can be taught and learnt once and for all and that can be subsequently applied to any thinkable situation regardless of context. Whether or not we focus on learning moral maxims by heart - learning to recognize and to make the 'right' choice - or on sharpening our ability to form subjective maxims that are in conformity with the moral law, we nevertheless approach ethics in terms of a fixed formal guide for living in accordance with a moral law that is conceived of as existing a priori and as being transcendent.

As already indicated, and as I aim to show in the studies included in this thesis, ESD exhibits a strong tendency to focus on having children train their ability to recognize and to make the 'right'

choice as prescribed by the codifications of ethical principles appealed to within the program (such as universal declarations of human rights and children's rights etc.). This, in turn, may be explained by a reliance on an overarching ethical framework clearly indebted to Kantian ethics in that it appears to presuppose an inherent link between the good will of the individual and the transcendent moral law. However, in order to open up for a different approach to moral education we may want to consider the implications of altering some of the conditions of ethics. Before doing so, however, let me just briefly comment upon a potential problem in assuming that Kantian ethics – as a theoretical system – can be readily codified and instrumentalized in the first place.

When Kantian ethics becomes dogma: a cautionary note

Kant's ethical theory (such as it is drawn up in Critique of Practical Reason and in Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals) is formulated in terms of a set of philosophical presuppositions for an ethical life rather than a dogma to be implemented and obeyed as such. 14 This is important to note as the ethical framework communicated through the human rights discourse, for instance, is difficult to conceive of in any other way than a dogma. Not least since it may well be argued that in many parts of the world human rights have taken on the roll formerly held by religious constitutions in so far as it dictates how humans should live and act towards each other. In fact, in An Answer to the Question: What is Enlightenment? (1784/1996) Kant specifically advises against relying on dogmas when pursuing enlightenment. He warns that these new dogmas (prejudices) will – instead of freeing rational individuals from the bonds of dependency - 'serve just as well as old ones to harness the great unthinking mass' (18). While Kant is clearly targeting religious constitutions – as a prime example of an imposed dogma - it is worth noting that Kantian idealism has - through implementational measures such as the human rights discourse itself been transformed into a dogma heralding universal reason as a transcendent source imposing its moral law on all rational be-

-

¹⁴ In the *Critique of Practical Reason*, for example, Kant claims that '[t]hese postulates are not theoretical dogmas but *presuppositions* having a necessarily practical reference [...]' (1788/1996: 246).

ings. As such, the idea of a universal reason – when appealed to in the various codifications of human rights – is manifested as an artificial measure effectively hindering the progression of the rational individual as it is translated into a set of constraining rules in the form of a universal moral code (Smith, 2007).

From this we may conclude that there appears to be a certain tension between Kantian ethics – as a purely theoretical system – and the ways in which Kantian ethics can be said to have been codified and institutionalized in various key aspects of the practical organization of the modern human social world, such as politics, law, and education etc. In some respects then, Kantian ethics appear to have been transformed into precisely the kind of dogma that Kant himself warned us about when he proposed that: 'People gradually work their way out of barbarism of their own accord if one does not intentionally contrive to keep them in it' (Kant, 1784/1996: 21). As Kantian idealism is being mixed up with the empirical world – which appears inevitable if it is taken to provide the theoretical basis for any form of political constitution – it is automatically transformed into the kind of prejudiced (perspectival) instrument that the divine law would turn into in the hands of a worldly ruler for instance.

Notwithstanding this (perhaps unavoidable) danger of confusion, however, it is still valid to pose critical questions to Kant's philosophy of ethics in order to continue pushing the boundaries of what ethics *could* be. This is so not least because one might assume that there is some form of correspondence between the image of ethical thought (that is, the theoretical system as such) and its various practical expressions (via ideas about how one is to learn to become an ethical being etc.) within an educational context. Giesinger relates this inherent tension between philosophical ideas and implementational measures as follows:

Transcendentalism, however, is not designed to explain processes of moral learning and education. So, we might conclude that we misunderstand Kant's moral philosophy if we criticise it from an educational point of view. Still, it is disconcerting when a theory of moral justification and motivation seems to obstruct

the development of a corresponding theory of learning. (Giesinger, 2011: 5)

This tension between the theoretical framework of Kantian ethics and practical educational implementations is one that – although it may not cast much of a shadow over the theoretical construction of Kantian ethics as such – may lead us to look for other forms of ethical models; models that are more readily grounded in the world of experience.

And so it is at the level of philosophical inquiry – rather than at the level of implementation – that philosophers such as Nietzsche and Deleuze have tackled the question of what ethics might be, and in doing so have continued (although taking it in a radically different direction perhaps) the philosophical labor of Kant. In what follows I will sketch out some of the key components of Nietzsche's and Deleuze's contributions to ethical theory in order to then situate these in an educational setting by asking how an immanent ethics (in ways different from a transcendent ethics) might impact educational thought and practice through what has come to be known as *affective learning* or *affective education* (see Dahlbeck, 2011: Sellar, 2009; Semetsky, 2009; Watkins, 2006; Watkins, 2007).

⁻

¹⁵ For a lengthier discussion on the (often understated) affinity between certain aspects of Nietzsche's and Kant's ethical theorizing see Cartwright (1984) and for a discussion on the relation between Deleuze's and Kant's philosophical work see for example Smith (2006).

From what has been said it is plain, therefore, that we neither strive for, wish, seek, nor desire anything because it is good, but, on the contrary, we adjudge a thing to be good because we strive for, wish, seek, or desire it.

- Benedictus de Spinoza, Ethics, Part III: Proposition IX, Scholium

ON THE POSSIBILITY OF AN IMMANENT ETHICS: CREATING NEW VALUES

Daniel W. Smith describes the guiding principle of an immanent ethics as follows:

Rather than 'judging' actions and thoughts by appealing to transcendent or universal values, one 'evaluates' them by determining the mode of existence that serves as their principle. (Smith, 2007: 67)

Already we can discern a radical difference between an ethics founded on the appeal to a universal law (via the faculty of reason) and one that turns instead to the material world, i.e. the differentiated world of experience, when formulating its guiding principle.

What Nietzsche and Deleuze ask of us (being informed by the univocity of Spinoza) is that we consider the possibility that our social constitution – being part and parcel of the empirical world – actually produces our sense of individual reason and through our reason our sense of morality. And that subsequently, our values and ideals are materially conditioned products of our social constitution and that as such they are empirical expressions. That is, the genealogy of values is bound up with underlying social desires and drives (and affections) that give rise to our sense of reason in so far as we derive 'the genesis of individuals from pre-individual forces and materials' (Cox, 2006: 500) and not from an essentially for-

eign – purely formal – substance. If we assume that ethical values have an empirical basis then we may also assume that values are more or less contingent or that, at least, there is nothing in the material world (which is all we, as humans, have access to) indicating that they exist separately from the context in which they are applied.

Wood's account of Kantian ethics reflects an idealized conception of ethics where moral values remain indifferent to the material world as they are essentially foreign to it. He writes:

Kant's moral rationalism is in part a recognition that however the psychology of human beings may vary in time, place, or culture, the fundamental standard of moral good and evil does not vary along with them. It is as independent of empirical human nature as the laws of arithmetic or Newtonian physics. (Wood, 2008: 37)

This account provides a solid framework for how one *should* live ethically in so far as it posits a non-negotiable standard of good and evil that appears incorruptible in itself. However, the problem is that if we take Nietzsche's account of the genealogy of morality (1887/2008) seriously then we may have to consider the fact that if values are not 'time-less absolutes' but rather 'reflections of the concrete interests of those who subscribe to them' (Smith, 2008: xv) then even the seemingly stable standard of Good and Evil have to be considered conditioned by human desires and drives.

How then are we to understand an immanent ethics that at first glance may appear to open up for complete value nihilism as it sets out to destabilize the universals of Good and Evil? This requires a more detailed look into some of the conditions of an immanent ethics as proposed by Nietzsche and Deleuze in particular.

Immanent ethics according to Nietzsche and Deleuze

In what follows of this section I will first outline some key Nietzschean concepts (I will focus on the concepts of *perspectivism* and *drives*) before attempting to briefly account for a Deleuzian understanding of the concepts of *desire* and *modes of existence*. The purpose for this is to construct a conceptual framework that I believe is necessary for establishing a better understanding of the (often elusive) idea of an immanent ethics and for subsequently applying the idea of an immanent ethics to an educational context via the concept of affective learning.

Nietzsche's perspectivism and the theory of drives

To be sure, there is a kinship between Nietzsche's ethical theorizing and Kantian ethics. And although the two thinkers are typically regarded as philosophical opponents in many ways, there are some interesting affiliations that seem important to note. Nietzsche, for instance, shares with Kant a highly critical attitude toward pity (Cartwright, 1984). He also rejects utilitarian and consequentialist ideas about ethics on much the same grounds as Kant. A central feature of both philosophers' ethical writings is the concept of *the will* insofar as it concerns an idea of a pre-individual will that functions subconsciously but that we can be made conscious of, and it is to this end – to conceptualize (and to control) the will – that both Kant and Nietzsche dedicate much of their moral philosophy. In a sense, then, we may conclude that 'the autonomy of the will is their central ethical conception' (Cartwright, 1984: 83). Beyond these similarities there are some key differences however.

While Kant's conception of the will is of a free will that automatically (and compelled by duty) seeks to conform itself to an already existing moral law, Nietzsche's famous concept of a will to power reflects a conception of the will capable of creating moral laws; that is, a will that possesses the ability to create new values. ¹⁶ Kant's will is always constrained by the law (that always already exists) while Nietzsche's will is always creative in the sense that it creates the law. Correspondingly, whereas for Kant, the autonomous individual is a presupposition for morality in itself, for Nietzsche, 'the autonomous individual equipped with a free will and conscience has to be viewed not as an ontological presupposition but as an historical creation' (Ansell-Pearson, 1991: 275). This, in turn, reflects a more foundational difference as it could be said that

¹⁶ For a lengthier discussion on Nietzsche's conception of freedom and 'the free will' see Solomon (2002).

while Kant seeks to recreate an original moral order (natural goodness). Nietzsche is more concerned with arguing for the perpetual creation of ethics (and ethical values) through the will to power. In doing this, Nietzsche is obviously attacking the idea that morality exists in any stable and unconditional (ahistorical) sense and hence it is not a specific form of morality he is targeting but it is 'virtue itself in itself, that is to say the pettiness of true virtue, the unbelievable mediocrity of true morality, the baseness of its authentic values that he attacks' (Deleuze, 1962/2006: 90). In contrast, Kant attempts to recreate a lost moral order which - somewhat paradoxically - appears to bring him back to a theological form of morality that he has already rejected. It is so as it appears to presuppose an original order that may be traced back to the Judeo-Christian myth of the Garden of Eden and the Fall of Man. With this in mind, consider the following take on Kant's conception of morality as understood by Wood:

Morality, in other words, is essentially the response to a human condition that has been torn away from natural goodness, where we must fight our way back toward goodness, or even forward to a higher kind of goodness than mere innocence could even so much as imagine. Moral worth involves the exercise of a new power, the power of reason and will. This is a power that arises in us only because our human nature, corrupted by the social condition, is fundamentally in need of correction, or even a revolutionary upheaval. (Wood, 2008: 29–30)

While the Kantian will 'is thought of as independent of empirical conditions and hence, as pure will' (Kant, 1788/1996: 164), Nietzsche's will is conditioned by the empirical body and its capabilities insofar as a body (any body) consists of relations of preindividual forces and insofar as the empirical world is composed of 'nothing but quantities of force in mutual "relations of tensions" (Deleuze, 1962/2006: 40).

Grounding morality in the body (as opposed to in pure reason), Nietzsche has to reject the idea that there exists a common for all moral law – applicable to everyone everywhere on the same terms

- in favor of an ethics that is explicitly perspectival; that is, that respects the fact that as it is of this world – i.e. empirically grounded – it cannot speak (at least not credibly) as if it was positioned above or beyond this world (as is the case with an ethics that appeals to a universal moral law). Consequently, Nietzsche may be said to advocate 'an ethics of self-cultivation' (Ansell-Pearson, 2011: 180) meaning that in order to become ethical one needs to be able 'to cultivate the shoots of one's drives and affects' (181) rather than to learn to recognize and conform to a universal moral law.

From this perspective, working with ethics in ECE would involve going beyond teaching children to recognize the prevailing ethical norms (by, for example, recognizing the act of recycling as corresponding to the principle of sustainable development by right), moving towards looking at how our behavior and our actions (in the particular setting of ECE) affect and is affected by our immediate surroundings and by those around us. It would involve experimenting with formulating subjective principles in such a way that they accord with our mode of existence and evaluating our principles in order to have them increase our ability to act while not decreasing the ability of others to act. This, of course, requires approaching ethics in terms of how it makes us feel and of how it makes people around us feel and not just in terms of how we are supposed to feel given the ethical framework that we have subordinated ourselves to (which, it seems, inevitably results in an ethics fueled by bad conscience and reactivity).

A key difference, then, is that Kant's will appears to be primarily reactive in the sense that 'the relation of such a will to this law is *dependence* under the name of obligation' (Kant, 1788/1996: 165) which means that the will – being inherently susceptible to the influence of subjective inclinations and desires – 'needs a resistance of practical reason which, as moral necessitation, may be called an internal but intellectual constraint' (165-166). Formulating a *reactive* will, in turn, appears to result in what may be labeled a form of moral asceticism. Nietzsche's will, on the other hand, is conceptualized as primarily *active* in the sense that it is identified as the driving force behind what is understood as the affirmative activity

of creating new values, not in order to constrain life, as it were, but in order to affirm life by creating values that resonate well in relation to a particular life and a particular configuration of drives. And this, obviously, is not something that can be done in any *a priori* or universal sense, as each life requires its own unique set of values in order to fit with the particular configuration of drives that compose that particular life.

It makes no sense, then, to relate arbitrary actions of a child (in the setting of ESD) to global (environmental or otherwise) consequences (established beforehand, as is done within the program of Green Flag for instance) as this means appealing to an assumed, i.e. already determined, cause and effect relation inherently blind to the conditions of the particular lives involved. It seems to automatically assume that meaning is encapsulated within the action itself (wherever, whenever, and for whatever reason it is carried out) and that judgments can be passed without considering the particularity of the action within its specific context. Within the conceptual framework of an immanent ethics one would, on the contrary, pay close attention to the particularities of the situation – the configuration of drives involved – as this is the only way of determining (on a subjective basis) whether an action is to be considered ethical (in relation to the context) or not.

From this perspective, any given configuration of drives can be either good or bad – depending on what they actually do with that particular life; i.e. whether they serve to affirm it or decompose it – but it can never be Good or Evil, as this presupposes a fixed set of values that precede the actual configuration and that function by judging instances of life in beforehand. Consequently, Nietzsche's perspectivism is based on the understanding that our drives actually give shape to our sense of self and that, therefore, a philosophical discourse on immanent ethics – in Nietzsche's view – should begin at the level of the drives. This is so, as in order to be able to cultivate ones drives, one need first be made conscious of ones drives. Hence, as Smith notes:

[I]t is our drives that interpret the world, that are perspectival – and not our egos, not our conscious opinions. It is not so much

that I have a different perspective on the world than you; it is rather that each of us has multiple perspectives on the world because of the multiplicity of our drives – drives that are often contradictory among themselves. (Smith, 2007: 69)

In sum, Nietzsche's ethics does not seek to conform – and to constrain – life to a universal moral law that presupposes a common for all standard that in itself must be conceptualized in relation to a specific configuration of drives; a configuration of drives that cannot be made applicable to all as it cannot be separated from the actual corporeality that it originates from. Rather, Nietzsche's proposal is that we cultivate our drives (that is, we need to learn to know them and to learn to know how to cultivate them so as to increase rather than decrease our power to act), and in order to do so we must pay close attention to the particular body that harbors the drives. Cultivating the drives, then, may be understood in terms of a conscious process of affirming life in the sense that it remains faithful to the Spinozan question: what can a body do? ¹⁷ As such:

To affirm life is to unburden: not to load life with the weight of higher values, but to *create* new values which are those of life, which make life light and active. There is creation, properly speaking, only insofar as we make use of excess in order to invent new forms of life rather than separating life from what it can do. (Deleuze, 1962/2006: 185)

One of the shortcomings of the predominant morality (hinged upon an appeal to the moral law) is – in Nietzsche's view – that it is utterly dependent upon the recognition of behavior as already familiar and as already determined in relation to a set of constraints that, in effect, tend to obstruct the creation of anything new. As

⁻

¹⁷ As argued in 'Towards a Pure Ontology' (Dahlbeck, 2011), the immanent ethics promoted by Nietzsche and Deleuze owes a great deal to the philosophy of Spinoza as he rejects the notion that the (transient) body and the (eternal) mind are of two different substances in favor of a univocal understanding of Being. Based on the idea of the univocity of Being, Spinoza proceeds to elaborate an ethics that does not appeal to transcendent values but that relies instead on an understanding of the productiveness of life itself; a productiveness that is intrinsically connected with what a body is capable of doing.

such, it is at the mercy of tradition in the sense that what is deemed ethical is what accords with traditional ways of acting and being. The problem, then, is that tradition can never foresee that which is not yet, and that therefore it may not be a reliable judge of things to come as it serves to conform these things to what has already been without considering what they could be. Nietzsche writes:

As, for instance, right away with the very *first proposition*: morality is nothing other (therefore, above all *no more*!) than obedience to mores, no matter what ilk they may happen to be; mores, however, are merely the *traditional* manner of acting and evaluating. In matters where no tradition commands, there is no morality; and the less life is determined by tradition, the smaller the orbit of morality becomes. The free human being is unaccustomed and immoral because, in all things, he *wants* to depend upon himself and not upon a tradition. (Nietzsche, 1881/2011: 10)

This is certainly applicable to the context of ESD as one of the main concerns of the discourse of ESD is to seek to establish new patterns of behavior in order to break with a (postindustrial) tradition of living unsustainably. It seems that seeking to establish new ways of living by appealing to an ethics that functions mainly by recognizing behaviors as corresponding with what is traditionally considered ethical is somewhat contradictory. Because, in order to be able to formulate new ways of living, it seems that - if we follow Nietzsche's line of thought at least - we would also need to formulate new values so as not risk recreating that which already is (that which has been deemed unsustainable in the first place). This sets up a major task for education as this would be the institution where coming generations have the opportunity to formulate new values more in line with the social order that is currently being sketched out and that would then need to focus more on creating than recognizing values as it were.

The inherent tension between recognition and production – as touched upon in the above quote – is one of the central points of contact between Nietzsche's and Deleuze's philosophy. And so it is

to Deleuze that we will now turn, in order to continue fleshing out the concept of an immanent ethics.

Deleuze, desire, and modes of existence

In a 1978 lecture on Kant, Deleuze outlines the rule of recognition versus the rule of production in a way that serves to illustrate one of the key differences between a transcendent ethics and an immanent ethics. In brief, transcendent ethics, according to Deleuze, relies on the rule of recognition insofar as it requires that we impose established values on many different things in a manner that does not necessarily allow us to come up with a schema; that is, a rule of production for creating new values. It only ever allows us to produce a synthesis of an empirical phenomenon when we relate it to the moral law. That is, it allows us to recognize things as corresponding to the moral law. Deleuze provides us with an example:

The synthesis of a house is the rule of recognition according to which I say 'it's a house'. You say 'it's a house' in front of very different things. You effect a synthesis of the given such that you relate them to the any-object-whatever 'it's a house'. The schema of the house is very different, it is not a rule of recognition over random diversities. The schema of the house is a rule of production, namely that you can give yourself a concept of house. (Deleuze, 1978b: 3–4)

The task for an immanent ethics, then, is to establish a schema of ethics that enables a differentiated evaluation in the sense that it does not tell you how you should live according to the rule of recognition, but that provides you with an instrument by which to produce values that accord with your particular configuration of drives. Consequently, the question one would ask oneself from the point of view of an immanent ethics is not then; how *should* one live (in a manner that resembles that which already is); but rather, what is my schema; of what am I capable given the concept that I correspond to? As such:

It is not a matter of judging life in the name of a higher authority which would be the good, the true; it is a matter, on the contrary, of evaluating every being, every action and passion, even every value, in relation to the life which they involve. Affect as immanent evaluation instead of judgement as transcendent value: 'I love or I hate' instead of 'I judge'. (Deleuze, 1985/1989: 141)

We see now how different an immanent ethics (as compared with a transcendent ethics) is with regards to the empirical. Whereas Kantian ethics very much seeks to separate the formal from the empirical – assuming that the essence of ethics lies beyond the material world – immanent ethics is constantly turning to the empirical for ways of extracting the formal, that is, extracting the inherently differential principles for living an ethical life from each life.

To relate it to the field of education one might say that following Deleuze's conception of ethics, the interesting pedagogical challenge is not about how we may best illustrate the governing ethical principles in our daily lives but about learning to constantly be on the lookout for ethical encounters that allow us to cultivate and sensitize our ability to perceive how we are shaped by everyday encounters and how our own ways of being affect those around us. As such, working with ethics in education would concern focusing on the individual processes of learning to act in such a way that we maximize the encounters that enrich us and minimize the encounters that decompose us.

Deleuze suggests that our unconscious desires function as an immanent organizing principle for the perceived material world. Much like with Nietzsche's perspectivism, however, the concept of desire should not be mistaken for our conscious desires or our personal outlook on life in terms of reflections of our personal aspirations and dreams. Rather, it concerns a pre-individual conception of desire that 'constitutes the condition of any decision' (Smith, 2007: 73). In *Anti-Oedipus*, Deleuze and Guattari conceptualize this pre-individual configuration of drives and affects in terms of a machine that produces desire; a *desiring-machine* (1972/2004: 1–57). It is a fruitful description insofar as it clearly highlights the

productiveness of life itself and insofar as it serves to facilitate the understanding of our drives and inclinations as 'already part of what Marx called the infrastructure' (Smith, 2007: 71) rather than as mere effects on the self, actuated by external influences. As such, we are concerned here with a form of empiricism suggesting that 'reason is not, strictly speaking, a faculty of ends', but that '[t]hese are referred back to a basic affectivity, to a "nature" capable of positing them' (Deleuze, (1963/2008: 1). In an educational context, then, to begin to know the nature that produces our presumed faculty of reason – i.e. our individual and collective desires and drives – would be the first step towards being able to formulate subjective values that accord well (in such a way that they do not constrain us) with the particular lives we live.

It makes sense, then, to evaluate a life (any life) in accordance with its immanent modes of existence rather than in relation to an external framework, whether we refer to this framework as a divine will or as the moral law. Deleuze and Guattari elaborate:

There is not the slightest reason for thinking that modes of existence need transcendent values by which they could be compared, selected, and judged relative to one another. On the contrary, there are only immanent criteria. A possibility of life is evaluated through itself in the movements it lays out and the intensities it creates on a plane of immanence: what is not laid out or created is rejected. A mode of existence is good or bad, noble or vulgar, complete or empty, independently of Good and Evil or any transcendent value: there are never any criteria other than the tenor of existence, the intensification of life. (Deleuze & Guattari, 1991/1994: 74)

As an attempt to facilitate the evaluation of life based on immanent criteria, and to conceptualize this process in terms of a pedagogy, the concept of affective learning has proved useful insofar as it lays out the schema for living ethically without subordinating life to transcendent values. As such, it concerns an attempt to formulate an applied immanent ethics in an educational context.

Affective learning: a possible immanent ethics in practice?

Affective learning, as I argue in 'Towards a Pure Ontology' (Dahlbeck, 2011), concerns a conception of learning that embraces - rather than denies - the fact that 'there is more to this world than appears to common sense in immediate experience' (May & Semetsky, 2008: 143). Instead of settling for ordering and labeling that which is already known, affective learning tends towards encouraging the experimentation with ones capacities to affect and be affected by things in an endeavor to embrace that which has yet to be; the new and the unexpected (see Deleuze, 1968/2004). This involves viewing the world as a place full of differences rather than similarities, full of things that are subject to constant changes rather than mere reflections (inferior copies frozen in time) of general categories. It does not mean doing away with recognition, as that would appear to render life unbearable, but it means that the subsumption of a particular action or event under a pre-given category is denaturalized and historicized. As such, it concerns acknowledging the historical aspects of ordering events according to evaluative labels. From this perspective, an action is neither good nor bad in itself (by nature) but is rendered either good or bad in a given context and from a particular point of view. As such, paying attention to specific historical contexts - in this case - involves recognizing things and events as analogue while at the same recognizing that the analogy is always temporary and particular. Hence, while subsuming actions and events under general categories may be regarded as necessary for facilitating the cognitive ordering of the world, it does not mean that it must be treated as natural or that a thing necessarily belongs to a given categories by right. Judge Holden, a central character of Cormac McCarthy's Blood Meridian, says the following when approached about this subject:

The truth about the world, he [Judge Holden] said, is that anything is possible. Had you not seen it all from birth and thereby bled it of its strangeness it would appear to you for what it is, a hat trick in a medicine show, a fevered dream, a trance bepopulate with chimeras having neither analogue nor precedent, an itinerant carnival, a migratory tentshow whose ulti-

mate destination after many a pitch in many a mudded field is unspeakable and calamitous beyond reckoning. The universe is no narrow thing and the order within it is not constrained by any latitude in its conception to repeat what exists in one part in any other part. Even in this world more things exist without our knowledge than with it and the order in creation which you see is that which you have put there, like a string in a maze, so that you shall not lose your way. For existence has its own order and that no man's mind can compass, that mind itself being but a fact among others. (McCarthy, 1992: 256)

The problem with a kind of learning that is primarily preoccupied with recognizing and identifying that which is already known – rather than one that is prepared to embrace the unknown as altogether unrecognizable and differential – is that we end up relying on a reversed sense of causality. This is so as the world we set out to teach about turns out to be nothing but a poor reflection of our presumed faculty of reason and therefore finite. As such, we can only ever teach or learn about things that we already know and as a result the world we address is a world that has been stripped of every quality and feature that cannot already be accounted for.

By focusing on identifying individualizations of the normative ideals (as appears to be the case with ESD), the process of learning is restricted by the extent to which we are able to connect concrete expressions (of, for instance, waste management) to abstract principles (of, for instance, ecological sustainability) in a chain of signification that seems inherently unwilling to handle material aspects as constitutive; that is, as being unique expressions whose ascribed meaning depends entirely upon our perspectival (embodied) ways of looking at and perceiving it.

We – as teachers and human beings who are relying on our presumed faculty of reason – construct a finite world that primarily serves to validate itself as it were. We posit ourselves as the cause of the world (and not the other way around) – by making sense of it – and in doing so we restrict ourselves into thinking that nothing new can ever be discovered, as it would then be utterly unrecog-

nizable by default. Nietzsche describes this reversed causality as follows:

Man's three 'inner facts', the things he believed in most firmly – the will, the mind, the I – were projected out of himself: he derived the concept of Being from the concept of the I, and posited the existence of 'things' after his own image, after his concept of the I as cause. No wonder if, later on, he only ever rediscovered in things what he had put in them. (Nietzsche, 1888/2006: 470)

Why, then, are we so adamant about identifying learning as the act of recognizing the already known? If we are to believe Nietzsche it has to do with a fear of the unknown, a deep-seated fear of the unaccountable. He writes:

Tracing something unknown back to something known gives relief, soothes, satisfies, and furthermore gives a feeling of power. The unknown brings with it danger, disquiet, worry – one's first instinct is to *get rid of* these awkward conditions. (Nietzsche, 1888/2006: 471)

Recognizing patterns in the world as already given or as analogue or opposed to something already identified can be thought of as a rather convenient way of doing away with the perceived dangers of the unknown using a reversed causality as a kind of means by which to familiarize and neutralize the world. Nietzsche elaborates:

In truth all these so-called explanations are states which *result* from something, a kind of translation of feelings of pleasure or displeasure into the wrong dialectic: one is in a position to hope *because* one's basic physiological feeling is strong and rich again; one trusts in God *because* one is calmed by a feeling of plentitude and strength. – Morality and religion belong entirely under the *psychology of error:* in every single case cause and effect are confused; or truth is confused with the effect of what is

believed to be true; or a state of consciousness is confused with the causality of this state. (Nietzsche, 1888/2006: 472)

Instead, affective learning would strive to undo this reversed causality by taking as its starting-point the affective encounter between individual bodies and then by considering the possibilities of the kind of world or the kind of life that the affective encounter would open up for: a life that is always more than can be conceived *a priori*.

To embark on a journey (as teacher or learner) where the end is forever shrouded in uncertainty requires a great deal of courage however. It also requires acknowledging that the process of learning (the journey) is not necessarily subordinate to the end (the knowledge aspired for). It requires creativity in the sense that to be able to confront something new requires the creation of new concepts capable of handling that which is not yet known - capable of handling difference on its own terms. It requires acknowledging that the mind is inseparable from the body (in a Spinozan sense) and that the body, as a result, is inseparable from the world. The mind, in this thinking, does not cause the world as it is always entangled in the world (via the body) and human knowledge is therefore always to be considered embodied. The idea, then, that the mind is capable of objectively judging and evaluating life - of ordering and labeling it according to preexisting general categories is inherently limited as judgments are always being passed from within life itself. As Nietzsche puts it:

You would need to be situated *outside* life, and at the same time to know life as well as someone – many people, everyone – who has lived it, to be allowed even to touch on the problem of the *value* of life: reason enough for realizing that the problem is an inaccessible problem for us. Whenever we speak of values, we speak under the inspiration – from the perspective – of life: life itself forces us to establish values; life itself evaluates through us *when* we posit values ... (Nietzsche, 1888/2006: 467)

Accordingly, learning is being severely restrained when subordinated to value judgments that presuppose a higher rank from where they are derived: a higher order thought of as being somehow separate from the world and from life.

In 'Evaluating Life' (De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011) we are discussing a kind of educational setting that (we argue) is very much relying on an understanding of learning as facilitating the recognition of that which is already known and on the preconception that any given situation can in fact be judged *a priori*. ESD, such as it appears in our examples from Green Flag, is primarily concerned with automatizing value judgments and in promoting an all-encompassing moral framework that is common for all. We mean to show how these conditions make it difficult to work with particularities as being constitutive and as differential. Lefebvre describes an alternative – Deleuzian – conception of international law, seeking to break with a tradition of relying on abstract rights – one that is relevant for my purposes here as it proposes a more creative and relational approach to the idea of right holding. He writes:

A concrete situation breathes life into the right, giving it a creative evolution. It is an operation that makes sense of rights and situations through their connection, endeavors to ameliorate a situation, and creates a new sense to the right. The right lives only in its creations and, in turn, these creations are themselves re-created by being introduced into new situations and new encounters. (Lefebvre, 2006: 414)

Similarly, affective learning is required to constantly redifferentiate itself as it is perpetually being reenacted in new situations and through new encounters: encounters that cannot be known in advance as they have not yet been experienced. Recalling Nietzsche's reservations about the supposed human ability to objectively judge life from within life, affective learning relies – in line with Nietzsche's thinking – on the assumption that the outcome of learning cannot in fact be known in advance as it is inevitably entangled in the ongoing process, making it both situational and perspectival by

default. Learning, in this conception, is not so much about producing and reproducing *an image* of the world, but about *creating* the world through the ongoing process of affective experimentation (cf. Deleuze & Guattari, 1980/2004: 12).

RELATED STUDIES ON ETHICS AND EDUCATION

The present thesis interconnects and relates to several fields of study simultaneously. It relates – on a general level – to studies on philosophy and education as is evident from the chapter on Kantian ethics and education and the passages on affective learning in particular. Empirically, it relates to studies on the educational and political field of ESD as demonstrated in the chapter on ECE, ESD, and the child as messenger. In particular, however, it relates to studies on ethics and education, focusing empirically on the institutional setting of ECE in Sweden.

In order to position the present thesis in relation to studies on ethics and education I aim to comment briefly on some relevant studies from this field of research. This is done mainly so as to be able to highlight some of the specific contributions of the present thesis, not least with regards to its methodological and theoretical points of departure.

It is important to note, however, that the primary function of this section is facilitative in the sense that the intention is not to establish and/or confirm the existence of a clearly delimited field of research but rather to provide a manageable framework for understanding the approximate position of the present thesis in relation to other studies of interest. As mentioned initially, I will pay extra attention to studies that specifically target, or relate to, Swedish conditions as the empirical focus of the present thesis is placed on discussing examples primarily borrowed from a Swedish context.

Traditionally, educational studies on ethics have placed considerable focus on children's meaning-making with regards to ethics. This has been done by either focusing on children's cognition (drawing from the theoretical writings of Piaget (1932/1960) and Kohlberg (1976) for instance); children's emotional capacity and studies on empathy (drawing from works such as Eisenberg and Strayer (1987) and Hoffman (1987)); or, as is the case more recently, on ethics as socio-culturally conditioned where the focus is on understanding how children interact ethically (see for example Corsaro, 1987) and on the educational setting as an ethical/moral arena (see Tholander, 2002) (Johansson, 1999: 43-61). Roughly speaking one might say that educational studies on ethics – particularly with regards to early childhood – have undergone a shift from being firmly grounded in moral theories concerning children's ethical abilities (Piaget, 1932/1960) to being more inclined towards relational ideas such as Noddings' ethics of care (Noddings, 2002). Nodding's notion of care ethics is typically conceived as an alternative to the traditional way of teaching ethics through character education insofar as its proponents 'rely more heavily on establishing conditions likely to encourage goodness than on the direct teaching of virtues' (1). This involves focusing more on the concrete interaction between moral agents than on the relation between abstract principles and ethical behavior.

For all their differences, what these three approaches have in common is that they concern attempts to understand how children in some sense *perform* ethically, given different ways of conceptualizing ethics – spanning from understanding ethics as founded upon preexisting universal principles that can be taught and learnt to ethics understood as inherently relational albeit often conditioned by the transcendence of the Subject.

Researchers such as Halvars-Franzén (2010) and Holmgren (2006) have carried out educational studies on ethics, where ethics is perceived as inherently relational and as socially conditioned while still being very much conditioned by the transcendence of the Subject. They have turned to the philosophical writings of Emmanuel Levinas in order to draw on his conception of ethics as originating – and manifesting – in the concrete encounter between

the Subject and the Other; an ethics that may be said to be transcendent insofar as it relies on the categories of the Other and the Subject or the Ego – categories that must be understood as residing beyond, or being otherwise than, Being (which is always limited by possible experience) by virtue of their status as abstract/pure ideas (Smith, 2003).

Halvar-Franzén has studied the institutional settings of preschool and school as places where 'becoming ethical' can take place with the intention to 'follow the everyday lives of children by exploring their ethical space and the encounters which take place in it' (2010: 185). Methodologically, the study is based on ethnographical field studies which, again, emphasizes the focus on ethical encounters between individuals (understood in this context as Subjects).

Holmgren has approached the ethical relationship between teacher and student from a Levinasian perspective, arguing that the practice of teaching is to be understood as an ethical relationship where 'the Subject (or Ego) [is] being constructed in its encounter with the Other' (2006: 137). His study is based on an ethnographic approach. The aim of the study is to inquire after '[w]hat kinds of phenomena manifest themselves in the teacher-student relationship?' (138) as perceived in the empirical material and understood through the lens of an ethics formulated by Levinas.

Dahlberg (2003) and Dahlberg and Moss (2005) have studied ethics in ECE in terms of its emancipatory potential for childhood institutions, applying a Foucauldian governmentality-perspective on a policy-level together with a Levinasian take on ethics aspiring to imagine 'a democratic political practice, where education takes the form of a pedagogy of listening related to the ethics of an encounter, and a lively minor politics confronts dominant discourses and injustice' (Dahlberg & Moss, 2005: 178). One might, however, detect a certain degree of tension between the Foucauldian understanding of discursive practices as being constitutive of subjectivity (and subjectivity, as an effect, then, being understood as inseparable from the world of experience) and the transcendence of the Levinasian Subject.

¹⁸ For a more in depth discussion on the Foucauldian understanding of the production of subjectivity and subjectification see Deleuze, 1990/1995: 113–114.

In a Swedish ECE setting, Johansson (1999; 2007) has investigated ethics from the child's perspective, focusing on 'children's lived experiences of values and norms' (1999: 271) in the context of the preschool. Looking at preschool children's conception of ethics, Johansson has enquired after the norms and values that children hold and to what extent children take responsibility for one another in their actions. Evidently, the relational aspects of ethics are at the very center of the study. Theoretically, Johansson turns to Merleau-Ponty so as to be able to grasp and interpret the life-worlds of the children involved in the study. In this sense, ethics – as relational – is taken to represent a process of learning where children are constantly trained in testing out values and norms in relation to their peers as a way of negotiating between their own rights and the rights of others.

Tholander (2002) has also focused on the collaborative actions of students as a way of understanding how morality is 'done' in a Swedish school context. Methodologically, the study is based on an ethnographic approach, focusing on analyzing informal classroom communication taking place between students. The purpose for doing this is to investigate the moral implications of students' dialogues, relying on the assumption that 'social norms are best seen when the participants themselves identify transgressions of these norms' (71). Theoretically, Tholander draws on what he calls 'a conversational alternative to cognitivist models of morality and moral development' (33) where moral cognitivism, as a tradition, is being largely ascribed to the theorizing of Kohlberg. Again, arguing against morality as a decontextual phenomenon, Tholander situates his study among those taking a relational perspective on ethics and morality, where morality is thought of as being constructed in social interaction.

As becomes clear from the above, Swedish educational studies on ethics and/or morality have focused mainly on looking at how ethics is being performed in an educational setting. Most studies mentioned above have approached ethics by way of ethnographic field studies, looking at the concrete interaction between children or between children and teachers/preschool teachers. This is typically done so as to allow for an informed understanding of how

children conceptualize ethics, how they act ethically, and what kinds of values they hold.

What the present thesis is concerned with, however, is rather to place focus on the ethical framework itself (by way of its effects ¹⁹), not in order to grasp how children act ethically or how children understand ethics and ethical values, but in order to map out the conceptual limitations of the ethical framework: an ethical framework that I perceive to be the predominant apparatus for evaluating instances of life in contemporary Western societies. This is done by studying various early childhood practices as localized empirical examples of how the ethical framework is manifested rather than as providing exclusive insights into how children think and behave ethically.

In the following chapter I will describe the methodological points of departure of the present thesis, discussing some of the implications of working with paradigmatic examples as an instrument for analyzing texts, in addition to describing the methodological approach in relation to each of the studies included.

¹⁹ This method relies on the Spinozan tenet that the only way to form adequate knowledge about a cause is through its effects (Nadler, 2007: 47-48).

ON METHOD: WORKING WITH PARADIGMATIC EXAMPLES

In The Signature of all Things (2008/2009) Agamben describes his methodological approach in terms of working with various paradigmatic examples that are taken to 'constitute and make intelligible a broader historical-problematic context' (9) rather than merely treating them as actual historical phenomena that serve as individual building blocks in a larger historiographical reconstruction. This approach, according to Agamben, presents an alternative to the inductive – moving from the particular to the general – as well as the deductive - moving from the general to the particular analysis, introducing 'a third and paradoxical type of movement, which goes from the particular to the particular' (19), and in doing so appears to question 'the dichotomous opposition between the particular and the universal which we are used to seeing as inseparable from procedures of knowing, and presents instead a singularity irreducible to any of the dichotomy's two terms' (19). The paradox of the movement lies in the fact that it 'transforms every singular case into an examplar of a general rule that can never be stated a priori' (22).

Working with examples in this manner – in order to identify tacit rules – is not about uncovering universals at work beyond the materiality of the examples but is instead about asking what the underlying epistemological and ontological conditions for these examples are? What are the presuppositions needed to make it possible to talk about a certain phenomenon (a particularity) in a certain (general) sense? And what would be the possible consequences

if these presuppositions where to be momentarily destabilized and if the presupposed link between the particular and the general were not to be taken for granted?

This methodological approach relies on an ontological position that presumes that I can only ever make claims about universals such as they are manifested in the examples observed, that is, I cannot make claims about whether or not the universals actually exist independent of and beyond the concrete examples, or if and how the concrete examples correlate with abstract laws. In this sense, it concerns a kind of empiricism that is not interested in setting out to establish causal relations (either inductive or deductive) as these are to be considered unobservable metaphysical ideas rather than actualities.

A note on the gap between what we see and what we say and on where to go from there

In a reflection on what might be learnt from the overall methodological approach of Michel Foucault (corresponding well with Agamben's reasoning about paradigmatic examples), Deleuze points out that:

We have to take things and find visibilities in them. And what is visible at a given period corresponds to its system of lighting and the scintillations, mirrorings, flashes produced by the contact of light and things. We have to break open words or sentences, too, and find what's uttered in them. And what can be uttered at a given period corresponds to its system of language and the inherent variations it's constantly undergoing, jumping from one homogeneous scheme to another (language is always unstable). (Deleuze, 1990/1995: 96)

To pay attention to (and to describe) these flashes is, by and large, what the present thesis is primarily concerned with. In this sense, working with paradigmatic examples is very much concerned with analyzing language and the variations in language as language is taken to correspond with a system and as the mapping out of this system is assumed to provide insights insofar as it indicates the

supposedly stable points that function as the prevailing parameters of possible knowledge(s). Methodologically, then, it concerns the setting up of 'relations between the visible and the utterable' (Deleuze, 1990/1995: 107) so as to be able to discern the as of yet unutterable and so as to enable the mapping out of the as of yet unchartered territory that education (as one of the core ethical enterprises of contemporary society) may indeed come to inhabit.

The overarching aim or guideline then, methodologically, has been to indicate certain perceivable fissures between 'what we see and what we say' (Deleuze, 1990/1995: 107), not so much in order to give an account of existing flaws in the system, but in order to indicate possible starting points for transforming the system from within. To this end then – that is, in order to be able to identify ways in which one might begin the transformation of a system of language and the ethics that corresponds with it – the present thesis is relying on the inherent instability of language insofar as it looks to linguistic inscriptions as indicators of appropriate points of entry for experimenting with the overall system of language (and ethics). I have termed these appropriate points of entry paradigmatic examples.

In what follows I will explain the process by which I/we have selected the empirical material; have selected examples to be analyzed from the material; and have proceeded to analyze these examples in relation to my/our theoretical resources. I will recapitulate this process on a study by study basis.

Study I

The initial process of mapping out the empirical territory of 'Evaluating Life' involved working on different levels simultaneously in order to allow us to trace discursive statements from a local level – focusing on the Green Flag material – to a national level – looking at national curricula – and to an international level – surveying international documents on children's rights and sustainable development, international political statements concerning ESD, and international statements concerning the issue of child labor. In addition, it involved mapping out what we perceived to be the theoretical foundation of these statements: a foundation that, we argued,

would provide us with an understanding of the conditions making it possible to talk about these issues in a particular way (while simultaneously blocking other ways of talking about it).

We started out by collecting statements (from all levels), sorting them under different headings indicating the subject addressed and/or the theoretical challenge that they posed. This required a thorough review of documents and statements deemed to be of interest for the study. We then proceeded by picking out specific examples from the documents that linked the various materials with one another so as to end up with two parallel texts in progress: one providing an assemblage of bits and pieces from our empirical material and the other summarizing our theoretical vantage points via quotes and passages particularly relevant for making connections between these empirical bits and pieces.

Next, we started bringing these two parallel texts together, resulting in a comprehensive document intercutting empirical examples with theoretical passages intended to breathe life into the examples and, at the same time, to narrow down our scope so as to allow us to identify which examples would be most appropriate for our purposes and which theoretical lines of thought would be most productive to pursue and which we were better off abandoning at an early stage.

At this point we put together a fairly substantial descriptive overview of Green Flag, describing its different components and relating the project to the international program of Eco-Schools so as to place it in a wider context. This was done mainly in order to come up with a preliminary map of the field of interest allowing us to perceive of the connections being made within the material at hand to international documents and agreements appealed to. To a large extent this overview was not included in the final piece, but it did, however, serve as a practical guide to be utilized in the work process.

Having identified what we perceived to be the logic at work behind our empirical examples (at all levels) as one conditioned by transcendence – as the statements all appealed to values understood to be universal, accessible through the presumed faculty of universal reason – we then proceeded to identify concrete examples

within the Green Flag material that appeared to benefit from acknowledging a more locally grounded (perspectival) gaze in order to make sense. This allowed us to narrow it down to two parallel aspects illustrating this perceived tension while serving to illustrate the paradigmatic importance of ESD (in terms of allowing us a glimpse into what is 'knowable' in the prevailing social order); one looking at Green Flag in terms of an instrument for evaluating life by appealing to decontextualized values; and the other focusing on the problems with applying the abstract concept of child labor in different concrete situations.

In doing this, we employed a Nietzschean critique of value judgments (in the case of the evaluation of life) and a Deleuzian critique of representation (in the case of the concept of child labor). This enabled us to destabilize the naturalness of the idea of an impartial evaluation of life and to problematize the chain of signification linking concrete expressions of children's work with the abstract concept/category of child labor.

A possible weakness with this mode of procedure – which may or may not occasion a certain amount of criticism, particularly since the study claims to be studying concrete examples in relation to abstract principles – is the complete absence of practical examples such as observations of the practice of working with Green Flag in an ECE setting or interviews with the involved teachers and children. As the overarching aim, however, was to identify, highlight, and critique what is possible (and correspondingly, what appears impossible) to think and do within this particular context given the ethical framework relied on, we decided early on to focus on different forms of official statements (as embodiments of cultural practices) as they may be said to provide valuable insights into the conceptual limits of a project such as Green Flag.

Study II

The work process that would eventually result in the finished article 'On Childhood and the Logic of Difference' began with a period of reading up on the history of Western childhood (see for instance Ariès, 1960/1962; Cunningham, 2005) in order to gain a better understanding of how and under what conditions the mod-

ern conception of Western childhood was formed. I did this in order to be able to identify the historical emergence of an ideal childhood; a normative ideal against which to measure and judge every instance of childhood such as they appear in the world of experience. Having identified this normative ideal in terms of an historical construction (heavily influenced by Enlightenment ideas about the presumed human faculty of reason and of subjectivity) I decided to focus on analyzing the key political instruments - so called institutionalized communication devices (Hemrica & Heyting, 2004) - geared for establishing and reaffirming this ideal. As the ideal childhood is typically being communicated in terms of a universally valid standard it seemed especially important to understand the mechanisms allowing for it to work in a specific way. For this purpose I decided to focus the analysis on identifying common traits in these key statements so as to be able to determine some of the presumed stable components of modern childhood.

Having first scanned the field of children's rights, I narrowed down on three key documents that provided me with an understanding of the historical development of the children's rights discourse as well as an opportunity for making a comparative analysis between historically different statements. I decided to treat these documents as paradigmatic examples in the sense that they would say something about the conceptual and practical limits of the discursive field of universal childhood. That is, they would allow me to say something about what is possible to think and say about childhood given the particular configuration of its components.

Next, I did a close study of the three documents – the Geneva Declaration of 1924, the Declaration of the Rights of the Child of 1959, and the Convention on the Rights of the Child of 1989 – in order to identify potential themes for constructing the analysis around; themes focusing particularly on revealing the limits and constraints of the prevailing conception of childhood.

I identified two main themes clearly visible in all three documents: (1) the dichotomy of adulthood and childhood, and (2) the parallelism between the shaping of the child and the shaping of society at large. Having identified the two themes I proceeded by selecting a series of excerpts from each document, ordering these ex-

cerpts according to each respective theme so as to provide empirical examples from all three documents in relation to both themes.

As a means by which to theorize about the two themes I decided to adopt a philosophical lens – informed by a Deleuzian critique of representation – working with the concept of difference so as to allow me to understand the hierarchical ordering of childhood as politically significant insofar as childhood would then be understood in terms of a differentializing instrument by which to produce social sameness. The concept of difference was identified as a condition for understanding the modern conception of universal childhood insofar as it – to a large extent – appears to be determined by its binary relationship with adulthood, and insofar as it provides a sense of unity to the disparate sensory impressions that we habitually label childhood, which in turn lends a sense of unity to the predominant social order (thereby differentiating it from other, less desirable, forms of social order).

Through this theoretical endeavor I concluded that the children's rights discourse – such as it appeared in view of my examples – could be argued to have less to do with the presumed emancipation of individual childhoods and more to do with claiming the right to define, determine, and order the discursive field of universal childhood at the expense of other possible understandings of childhood.

Study III

The preparatory work preceding the writing of "Needle and Stick" Save the World' consisted of both authors viewing all ten episodes (each episode is nine minutes long) together, taking notes and afterwards discussing possible vantage points for constructing an analysis of the material. At this point we studied the accompanying guide to *Needle and Stick* describing the educational aim and focus of the TV-series in order to relate the material to – and place it within – a relevant political discourse; that of education for sustainable development.

Following the initial viewing I made detailed transcriptions of all ten episodes, describing sound, image, and story respectively. Reading through the transcriptions we then selected a few especially relevant excerpts to focus on in the analysis. At this point we sat down for another viewing, focusing on the episodes containing the selected examples.

Parallel to this we began working out the theoretical framework of the piece, focusing on finding possible ways of describing the underlying logic of the TV-series. We identified an overarching theoretical problem having to do with the taken for granted relation between individual actions and the presumed fate of the natural world as tacitly communicated in the material. From this, we outlined two interrelated themes visible in the material, themes that we connected with tacit presuppositions needed in order for *Needle and Stick* to make sense in a concrete political and educational discourse.

The first theme revolved around what we referred to as the teleological journey (O'Doherty & O'Shea, 2005). The teleological journey provided us with a model for understanding the conditions necessary for connecting individual actions with the fate of the natural world in the sense that it described a process by which Being is turned into labor. This, in turn, entailed that we understood individual actions (such as recycling) represented in Needle and Stick as inherently linked with and subordinate to the greater good of saving the planet. Other necessary conditions for this model were found to be the presumed existence of stable categories and rigid identities. When working with the teleological journey as a theoretical tool we set out to identify examples from the material that we claimed served to illustrate a tacit dependence on these conditions, and in doing so it also excluded other possible ways of understanding and making sense of the individual actions being represented.

The second, interrelated, theme was connected to the logic of separation, appealing to Agamben's (2002/2004) critique of the Aristotelian definition of life where life is essentially understood in terms of a series of rigid divisions between various faculties and potentialities. In this conception, human labor is treated as exceptional as it is believed to be naturally oriented towards the greater good of the goal of the community aligning the logic of separation with the teleological journey in the sense that for an individual action or a form of activity to be considered meaningful it needs to

be related to the greater good; i.e. the common goal to be aspired for. For this to be possible, life would need to be broken down into identifiable parts belonging to already established categories and entrenched identities. Hence, we set out to identify examples from the material where the human activities represented would appear senseless unless connected to the greater good of saving the planet.

In connection with this analysis we brought in various relevant (national and international) policy documents relying on a similar logic so as to relate the examples from the material to a prevailing political discourse indicating that the TV-series could indeed be interpreted as a political tool of sorts. This led us to discuss the political roles of universal childhood and education in relation to a society's striving towards a greater good illustrating how the same conditions – stable categories, rigid identities, teleology, and the logic of separation – that we identified as foundational for *Needle and Stick*, where appealed to on a more general level as well.

This led us to backtrack in order to contextualize the material of Needle and Stick at the onset of the piece. We found this to be a way of strengthening our claim that Needle and Stick could in fact be interpreted as a paradigmatic expression allowing us a glimpse into the conditions for making connections between individual actions and the fate of the natural world in the first place. In order to support this claim we briefly related the history of Swedish educational television so as to be able to argue, in a convincing way, that Needle and Stick could actually be conceived as a political instrument very much aligned with a tradition (since the late 1960s) of making and distributing governmentally produced television for educational purposes. As such, we argued, it could also be interpreted in terms of an expression of governmentality which led us to go back to the material again and to highlight some concrete examples of how Needle and Stick could be said to be about the shaping of children's subjectivity and the shaping of a particular form of humanity (via the appeal to human conscience) and to incorporate this into the analysis.

Study IV

Methodologically, 'Towards a Pure Ontology' set itself apart from the other studies presented in this compilation thesis as it did not involve working with an empirical material in the same sense that the other three did. Instead of working primarily with empirical examples taken from the converging fields of ECE and ESD or the children's rights discourse - be it official statements or various forms of teaching material - I decided to focus almost exclusively on conveying and problematizing a philosophical discourse that could be said to provide the foundation or framework for how learning about ethics is typically being conceptualized in contemporary liberal education. Besides critically examining the current order, I was especially interested in investigating alternative ways of conceptualizing teaching and learning about ethics which meant that 'Towards a Pure Ontology' would be more focused on - or at least more explicitly concerned with - exploring possible trajectories of thought than what the other studies had been.

I began, however, by relating a personal experience from ECE in order to find a tangible point of entry through which I might then gain access into a philosophical problem concerning ethics in a more general sense. I identified the problems intrinsic to the prevailing conception of ethics – informing the rationale of my example – as having to do with the reliance on abstract ethical values, disembodied and universal in the sense that they are conceived of as already and always existing. In contrast to this I wished to try out a different conception of ethics – one where ethics would be conceptualized as embodied and situational – in order to raise questions concerning how such an ethics would affect the educational context of my opening example.

In order to do this, I set out to relate a different tradition of ethical thought – one that I traced from the philosophical writings of Spinoza, via the works of Nietzsche and on through to Deleuze's (and Deleuze's and Guattari's) philosophy of immanence. I did this mainly by way of reading Deleuze's works on the two earlier philosophers (see for example Deleuze, 1962/2006; 1970/1988) and by studying a selection of the key works of all three philosophers with particular regards to ethics; focusing especially on Spinoza's

Ethics (1677/2001), Nietzsche's On the Genealogy of Morals (1887/2008), and Deleuze's Difference and Repetition (1968/2004). In terms of interpreting Spinoza's text I was – besides being guided by Deleuze's lectures on Spinoza (see Deleuze, 1980a; 1980b) – much helped by Spindler's (2009) recent work on the philosophy of Spinoza.

Having contrasted the prevailing disembodied (transcendent) ethics with an embodied (immanent) ethics, I then focused on strengthening the connection with education by trying out the concept of affective learning. This involved steering the piece more pronouncedly in the direction of the field of philosophy of education, linking it to the related work of May and Semetsky (2008), Sellar (2009), Semetsky (2003; 2004a; 2004b; 2009), and Watkins (2006; 2007). This also involved a slight shift in focus from studying ethics and how ethics - such as it is manifested in ECE institutions – is conceptualized philosophically to looking at how learning might be affected by focusing less on recognizing and validating that which already is (such as ethical principles taken to exist a priori) to experimenting with understanding one's bodily capabilities and the affective relations that the body is entangled with so as to be able to palpate the as of yet unknown and so as to be able to create new values 'in accordance with our inborn abilities and limitations' (Solomon, 2002: 75).

All in all, 'Towards a Pure Ontology' acquired the characteristics of an argumentative philosophical discussion utilizing philosophical texts as its main source to draw from and, simultaneously, as its main object of study as it were. This meant that the methodological approach relied less on the analysis of empirical data using a philosophical lens and tended more towards the construction of an argument – viable for educational queries – based on the critical comparison of two different philosophical traditions. Based on the conclusions drawn from this comparison I then focused on making reasonable assumptions as to what the implications for educational theory and practice might be given such a radical shift – from a disembodied to an embodied ethical framework and pedagogy – in the conditional parameters.

SUMMARIES OF STUDIES

I have decided to present the studies in the following order so as to be able to convey a certain movement that I perceive as follows:

In the first study we provide a fairly thorough account of the convergence between the fields of ECE and ESD. In doing so this study provides a good introduction to the core empirical material of this thesis; that is, the individual expressions of an ethical framework that we set out to scrutinize. We tackle both aspects of the purpose of the thesis; we describe the conditions for linking individual actions to normative ideals and for judging them according to the same; and we give examples of disturbances in the relation between normative ideals and its individualizations by problematizing the category of child labor in particular.

The second study involves taking a step back insofar as it provides an account of the category of childhood such as it appears within the official children's rights discourse. As such, this study serves to establish the political importance of childhood which helps explain; (a) why studying ethics in relation to childhood is important in the first place; and (b) why childhood and education are so prominently featured aspects within the official discourse of sustainable development. In this study the main focus is on the first aspect of the study as it concerns establishing the connection between individual childhoods and the general category of childhood, which from the perspective of the material at hand may be put in terms of striving to relate all indivualizations of universal childhood to the normative ideal of a good childhood in a universal sense.

The third study involves taking a step ahead, looking at a very particular expression of ESD – the Swedish educational TV-series Needle and Stick Save the World. This means that we look closer at various disturbances of the discourse of sustainable development; disturbances that are evoked by tampering with the epistemological foundation insofar as we experiment with the material by trying out the notion that all life work (as opposed to treating human labor as somehow exceptional due to its supposed ability to be guided by a good will) and then observing how this move seems to affect the perceived meaning of the material. As such, this study responds to the second aspect of the purpose as it explicitly focuses on disturbances in the discourse of ESD.

The final study involves taking a step back yet again, this time in order to be able to (a) relate the conditions of the predominant ethical framework to a concrete educational setting and to the form of learning that this framework allows for; and (b) to focus on formulating suggestions for moving ahead with an ethical pedagogy grounded in embodied rather than disembodied knowledge and in a pedagogy of creation rather than a pedagogy of recognition. As such the final study of this thesis corresponds to both aspects of the purpose.

Study I: Evaluating Life: Working with Ethical Dilemmas in Education for Sustainable Development

Moa De Lucia Dahlbeck and Johan Dahlbeck

In the first article of this thesis we aim to investigate some of the effects of individualizing the normative framework of human rights in the specific context of ESD. For this purpose we analyze some examples from the Swedish educational program of Green Flag. We specifically target the ethical dimension of ESD, looking at how ethical dilemmas are presented and treated within the discourse. In order to identify a tension between the particular and the general we oscillate between looking at exercises from Green Flag to looking at official national and international statements concerned with childhood, education, and sustainable development. The problem we identify has to do with the reliance on rigid identification and

already established ethical guidelines on the one hand and the presumed free will of the children and teachers involved in ESD on the other.

First, we place the program of Green Flag within the discourse of ESD and in doing so we identify it in terms of a social and political program very much aligned with the pronounced goals and aspirations of the international discourse on sustainable development and human rights. As such, we argue that Green Flag may be understood in terms of a political instrument for shaping ethical subject in a very specific sense; namely in the sense that it functions to facilitate the automatization of ethical decision-making in an educational context. If understood this way, we claim that Green Flag may provide an illustrative example of some of the conceptual limits of the normative framework of human rights.

Next we account for some of the conditions of the normative generality of human rights by discussing its philosophical presuppositions in terms of the three concepts of identity, subjectivity, and values. We assume that for an ethical framework based on the evaluation of particular instances (actions) in relation to formal ethical values to function smoothly it needs to rely on a particular conception of identity – as stable and non-changeable – and subjectivity – as capable of reflecting universal rationality – and values – as existing *a priori* and as transcendent. In the analysis to follow we identify some possible tensions resulting from these presuppositions.

On the one hand we focus on the conditions for determining and evaluating quality of life – quality of life being a recurring concept within the Green Flag material – in order to problematize such an evaluation by looking at its implications for what a life is; i.e. a materially determined and measurable entity to be judged according to a formal (that is, non-empirically grounded) framework rather than a series of materially grounded affective encounters that derive its meaning from its specific configuration which is inherently dependent upon historically and geographically specific contexts. We identify a specific political model – the modern welfare state – upon which the evaluation is hinged which in turn raises issues concerning the perspectival nature of knowledge. The question we

ask may be formulated thus: how is it possible to evaluate life in any objective sense if the model for evaluating life appears to be derived from a specific historical and geographical context?

On the other hand we look at a related problem concerning the identification of a child laborer arrived at via the theme of consumerism in the Green Flag material. Again, this problem reflects the broader issue of the conditions necessary for being able to pass a priori judgments in particular cases. More specifically, we investigate the problems involved with having children make ethical choices in specific situations where the ethical value of the decision is not determined by looking at the material conditions at hand but by presupposing that certain patterns of behavior (such as excessive consumerism) automatically produces global problems such as that of child labor. The problem that we identify is that this judgment depends upon an overly simplified identification of the child laborer as an abstract subject - a deviation to be eradicated by abolition - rather than in terms of a general category harboring many different kinds of subject positions always conditioned by historical and geographical contextual relations making them inherently temporary and particular.

In conclusion, we draw on theoretical resources borrowed from Nietzsche and Deleuze in order to suggest a reevaluation of the evaluative framework of human rights, and in extension of implementational devices such as Green Flag and ESD. We argue that in order to construct a framework more sensitive to the perspectival nature of knowledge it would be called for to account for the inherent arbitrariness of any evaluative framework and to upgrade the status of the local and the differential vis-à-vis the global and the standardized.

Study II: On Childhood and the Logic of Difference: Some Empirical Examples

Johan Dahlbeck

Based on a close reading of a selection of official children's rights documents, the second article of this thesis argues that childhood – such as it is represented in the children's rights discourse – may be

understood in terms of an effect of rigid identification where child-hood is constructed in opposition to adulthood. This representational scheme, in turn, relies on a foundational idea of identity where difference (particularities) is habitually made subordinate to sameness (general categories), and where, as a result, processes of recognition and identification are valued higher than creativity and mobility. In response to this foundational claim, this article argues for a different conception of identity – drawing on the philosophy of Gilles Deleuze – where difference is understood not as a reactive means by which to establish similarities or oppositional pairs (corresponding to universal ideas as individual instances of generalities) but as pure difference in itself (corresponding only to itself as situational and relational particularities).

As such, the article formulates a critique of general principles (universal rights) that does not – and cannot – account for every thinkable particularity in every thinkable context. Moreover, it argues that in claiming to be able to account for every instance of the category of childhood, these principles blur their own perspective. That is, as they appear to emanate from nowhere and everywhere at the same time, they are denying the specificities of the historical and political context that gave rise to them in the first place.

Empirically, the article is focusing on three key documents of the children's rights discourse, these being the 1924 Geneva Declaration of the Rights of the Child, the 1959 UN Declaration of the Rights of the Child, and the 1989 UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. These documents were selected as they are taken to represent the historical development of the modern children's rights discourse from the 1920s up to the present day.

The close reading of these texts indicates that two prominent characteristics can be traced from the Geneva Declaration, via the Declaration of the Rights of the Child, and to the Convention on the Rights of the Child. These characteristics can be summarized as follows: first, the dichotomization of adulthood and childhood is a recurring feature that draws on the abstract idea of the liberal political subject making for a fixed norm against which the idea of the universal child is constantly being measured. This implies a rigid hierarchy where childhood is subordinate to adulthood by virtue

of its relative distance from the liberal political subject on an imagined scale. Second, corresponding to the dichotomization of adulthood and childhood, there is support in the documents concerned for suggesting that childhood may be conceptualized in terms of a political project very much aligned with the political project of the modern liberal welfare-state. This means that the shaping of childhood – such as it appears in the children's rights discourse – corresponds with the overall shaping of a liberal society in that the former is carried out for the purpose of securing the latter. This in turn means that the political shaping of a liberal society appears to be dependent upon what I have labeled *a logic of difference* hinged on processes of rigid identification and hierarchization. It also illustrates the political importance of childhood as a key arena for establishing and disseminating commonly held values.

In the concluding part of the article I argue that it may be called for to reevaluate the framework of children's rights insofar as it tends to entrench taken for granted historically conditioned notions about childhood rather than facilitate any real changes within the discourse of children's rights. This reevaluation involves critically studying the conditions of children's rights rather than merely elaborating further implementational tools which would always reflect the framework insofar as it furthers foundational ideas about what childhood is without asking questions concerning what childhood could be. A possible way of reevaluating children's rights, then, would be to problematize the ontology of identification and by doing so to trouble the notion of childhood as eternally fixed and as unified. This ontological question will be further elaborated in the final article of this thesis.

Study III: 'Needle and Stick' Save the World: Sustainable Development and the Universal Child

Johan Dahlbeck and Moa De Lucia Dahlbeck

The third article included in this thesis turns to a specific example within the discourse of ESD – the Swedish educational TV-series *Needle and Stick Save the World (Needle and Stick)* – in order to make visible a foundational logic of separation facilitating a specif-

ic understanding (while at the same time excluding any other understanding) of what childhood and a good human life is and what it could be. In doing so, we argue, *Needle and Stick* provides an example of the productive power of knowledge in that it not only functions to reflect a foundational understanding of human relations and the relation between humans (children in particular) and the natural world but by validating this understanding it also produces it. Troubling the notions furthered in *Needle and Stick*, then, is a way of destabilizing the rigid positions of the child and nature in a more general sense.

We begin by establishing Needle and Stick as a normative political expression by placing it in a specific sociopolitical, geographical, and historical context: namely that of the educational project of Swedish governmentally produced and distributed television established in the late 1960s. This helps explain the potential political impact of this form of educational entertainment as it is automatically guaranteed a wide circulation through the Swedish Broadcast Corporation and a significant educational impact through its state sanctioned affiliation with public educational institutions. Understanding childhood in terms of a politically significant field for establishing foundational ethical (and cosmopolitan) values makes Needle and Stick into an interesting example as it widens the scope from it (in terms of a local educational expression) being relevant in terms of a local concern - shaping a sense of national belonging through establishing connections between children and their local environment etc. - to a global concern where the direction of the social world at large seems to be at stake. It is the conditions for this leap – from a local expression to a global concern - that is the focus of the study; a leap that leads us to study the preconditions for talking about local childhoods and individual children's behavior and normative ideals with claims of universality in the same breath. We identify hints of these preconditions in national and international official statements on education, children's rights, and sustainable development. This is so as these documents inform us about the normative ideals that they are intended to reflect and whose implementation they are intended to facilitate.

The problem we perceive is twofold. On the one hand, it concerns the way in which the different components are structured – individual human actions positioned as the determining factor of the fate of the natural world – and the consequences of presenting this structure as natural, i.e. as universally valid. On the other hand, it concerns understanding the process by which this structure is being validated as inherently limited. This, we argue, has to do with referring to certain conditional features as transcendent, i.e. as meaning-making mechanisms located beyond the material world, rather than as materially conditioned historical constructs.

The first step of the analysis targets the teleological features of *Needle and Stick* as constitutive. We look at specific segments as exemplifying the underlying logic of the discourse where individual actions of throwing garbage, for instance, are understood to be decisive for the survival of the planet. We investigate the implications of this, insofar as it indicates the necessity of governing individual behaviors and shaping ethical subjects and insofar as it positions human rationality as the constituting entity of the universe. In so doing it grants a prominent position to the concept of human activity/labor.

This brings us to the second step of the analysis in which we discuss the inability to handle life – according to an Aristotelian logic of separation - in a univocal sense (despite the somewhat contradictory appeal to holism made within the discourse of sustainable development) but that requires instead a conception of life as constituted by series of pre-given hierarchical divisions and distinct cause and effect relations always related to universal values. In this segment we look at the role of the expert as it is portrayed in Needle and Stick; a role that we claim may be understood to represent the natural ability of human rationality (by virtue of its supposed universality) to order and give meaning to the world. It falls upon the expert, in this case, to ascribe foundational meaning to individual acts of recycling or any other action that may be understood as part of the infrastructural organization of society. One of the aspects of this conception of life that we wish to problematize is the way in which it sets up the dichotomy of activity versus inactivity, where activity is understood in terms of rational behaviors directed

towards the common good of mankind whereas inactivity is understood in terms of irrational behaviors effectively hindering the progress of humanity. We turn to the philosophy of Michel Serres as a means by which to evoke a different conception of life; one where all kinds of life work by virtue of their inherent productivity. In light of this, there is nothing exceptional about human labor as it is to be considered an example of the productivity of life which may be compared with other examples such as the productive behavior of any living organism. The main difference, then, would be that whereas human labor is understood to be consciously directed towards a higher purpose – one of saving the world – other forms of activity are understood to be purely instinctive. This link – between human labor and salvation – is one that we argue may be considered historically conditioned rather than fixed which would mean that it is but one way of understanding Being out of many possible.

Based on this understanding we sketch out the role of education as an important instrument for furthering foundational claims about what a good life is and for assigning the role of furthering these claims to children in particular. This is evident not least as we show how this divisional understanding of Being is appealed to in various key documents on human rights; documents that function as representations of normative ideals permeating modern liberal education through their influence over the design of steering documents and national curricula.

To conclude we suggest a reevaluation of these tacit and often taken-for-granted claims communicated through implementational instruments such as *Needle and Stick*. On the one hand we wish to show the potential impact of local expressions of ESD – as means by which to establish certain perspectives at the expense of others – and on the other hand we wish to suggest a more in depth discussion on some of the conditions of the predominant perspective.

Study IV: Towards a Pure Ontology: Children's Bodies and Morality

Johan Dahlbeck

In the final article of this thesis I set out to draw some educational conclusions from a philosophical debate on the conditions of learning based on two different ontological positions. I argue that learning – such as it is facilitated when rooted in an ontology of identity - is traditionally directed towards recognition and that therefore it can only ever account for that which is already known and therefore perceived to be finite. A conceptualization of learning rooted in a different ontological position – one that may be labeled an ontology of difference - however, would be more inclined to regard learning in terms of an ongoing process of creation, that is of acknowledging that learning involves (besides recognizing the familiar) creating new concepts by which to describe things and processes that are inherently differential and constantly changing and therefore to be regarded as infinite and as sensitive to the unique configurations of bodies rather than determined by formal ideas. For the purpose of conceptualizing a pedagogy rooted in this second ontological position, I turn to the emerging concept of affective learning.

I start out by relating a personal reflection of an episode that takes place in a Swedish pre-school in order to illustrate the inherent limitations of a pedagogy of recognition. The example I use is one where higher values (i.e. commonly held ethical principles that are conceived as preceding any actual value judgment) are displayed in the form of laminated signs making for a conceptual framing of the entire educational setting. I argue that these signs function by supplying every instance of learning with an overarching evaluative framework so that learning – in this context – by and large comes down to being able to recognize individual practices and interactions as corresponding with and conforming to a normative ideal that is conceived as disembodied and as existing *a priori* (i.e. as transcendent). To trouble this notion of learning as inherently limited by what is already known I turn to a tradition of

immanent philosophy identified in the works of Spinoza, Nietzsche, and Deleuze.

In Spinoza, I identify what may be labeled a pure or an embodied ontology; that is a univocal understanding of Being where the empirical and the formal are – on the most basic ontological level – of one and the same substance (expressed through affective encounters between bodies) as opposed to an understanding of Being as composed of two separate substances - one being formal (nonextended) and the other material (extended) - where the material world is conceived of as an inferior reflection of the formal world. Being, in this sense, is taken to be wholly corporeal in the sense that the idea of the mind as eternal is understood to emanate from the material world. I identify some key prejudices that Spinoza seek to overturn through his ontological shift. These include the idea that Being is defined by a perpetual lack resulting from the presupposition that the mind is striving to overcome the transience of the body, reaching for higher values that are always positioned beyond the material world and that therefore these ideals are to be considered unattainable. It follows from this that ethics – when conceived of as purely formal – is understood in terms of a set of constraining rules (what Nietzsche labels morality) serving to facilitate the mind's perpetual striving towards the formal sphere. In response to this, Spinoza proposes an affirmative conception of ethics where ethics is understood in terms of an instrument for alleviating the process of working towards increasing one's own power to act (in a manner that composes rather than decomposes life) so that it corresponds to one's unique configuration of drives and that therefore ethics is to be considered materially grounded.

This is taken to be a condition for appreciating Nietzsche's critique of traditional morality in that it serves to facilitate his conception of perspectival knowledge in the sense that all knowledge – providing we entertain the idea that Being may in fact be understood in a univocal sense – is embodied and therefore inherently perspectival. Nietzsche establishes tradition as the driving force behind higher values and in doing so he disqualifies the notion that there exists an impartial framework for judging actions and that this framework is somehow elevated beyond the inherent prejudic-

es of the empirical. In historicizing and contextualizing morality he places focus on the active/positive human ability to create values rather than on (what he takes to be) the reactive/negative human ability to follow commands.

To strengthen the link made between the philosophy of Spinoza and the philosophy of Nietzsche I turn to Deleuze, partly because he has written extensively on the works of both philosophers but more importantly because he has utilized central strands of each philosopher in order to construct a highly influential conception of immanent philosophy himself. From Deleuze's (and Deleuze's and Guattari's) work I derive a conception of production versus recognition (comparable to the active and the reactive in Nietzsche and to the good/affirmative and the bad/decomposing in Spinoza) where life is conceived of as productive in itself (that is it does not acquire meaning through external intervention but through immanent processes of affective encounters) and where recognition is conceived of as a central part of a dogmatic image of thought insofar as it denies the inherent differentiality of life by relating instances of life always to commonly held ideas appealing to the universal standards of Good and Evil.

To conclude and to reconnect the article with its educational starting-point I try out the concept of affective learning as a means by which to formulate an educational framework grounded in creation rather than recognition. I provide a brief account of the emerging field of affective pedagogy and I go on to list some of the characteristics of an educational encounter understood to be thoroughly embodied rather than primarily defined by the preconceived relation between an embodied learner and a disembodied framework.

FINAL THOUGHTS

To sum up, I will now return to the initially stated purpose of this thesis which was to critically examine how ethical principles are conceptualized and applied in a particular educational context, namely that of the converging fields of Swedish ECE and ESD. I dealt with this purpose in two ways. On the one hand, I set out to critically assess the presumed connection between ethical principles and individual actions (in an educational context). I did this because the notion that the value of an action can be established by determining its relative proximity to an ethical principle appears to make for a central claim of any transcendent form of ethics. This claim, in turn, may be conceived as important for understanding the basic premises of the ethical framework relied upon within the discourse of modern liberal education. On the other hand, I set out to destabilize some of the basic presuppositions of a transcendent ethics in order to be able to evaluate it in the light of an alternative ethics: that of an immanent ethics, concretized in an educational context via the pedagogy of affective learning.

In order to approach this issue I started out by giving an account of some of the conditions of the prevailing ethical framework codified through universal human rights; a framework that I – having first linked the contemporary practice of ESD in the Swedish setting of ECE to the international discourse of cosmopolitan education – understood to be clearly indebted to (and grounded in) Kantian idealism and the Kantian form of transcendent ethics. I proceeded by identifying 'the good will' (Kant, 1785/1996) as a key concept within the discourse of ethics and education. Within

this discourse, I concluded that the concept of the good will functions by allowing individual children (through their actions) to gain access to and to implement the normative ideals of human rights in an educational setting. The educational task, in this context, was thereby conceptualized as one of teaching young children to – by appealing to their supposedly inherent good will – internalize and automatize the normative ideals so as to be able to make the 'correct' ethical decisions in their daily lives; i.e. to be able to recognize individual actions as corresponding to normative ideals by right. This process, whereby normative ideals are being concretized and validated through the tacit approval of certain behavioral patterns and the tacit disapproval of others (in a universalized sense), was identified as a central feature of the contemporary practice of ESD (visible for instance in the values exercises of Green Flag etc.).

A possible way of understanding the presumed connection between normative ideals and its individualizations is that - as the normative ideals are assumed to exist a priori - it concerns a reversed form of causality in the Nietzschean sense discussed earlier. This is so as the material expressions – that are to be understood as necessarily unknown as they have not in fact been expressed in exactly the same way before - are traced back to something known i.e. the normative ideals – whereby they are being familiarized and judged according to how well they conform to that which is taken to be always already known. However, as the only tangible way of accessing the normative ideals is through its individualizations one might argue that the ideals have to be (originally) extracted from its individualizations and not the other way around. That is, having first decided that a certain action is to be deemed ethical, that action is then abstracted into a principle that in turn is claimed to have always existed irrespective of the material world (which is, of course, where it is only ever manifested). This model fits with Nietzsche's analysis of how the prevailing form of morality was once established. He suggests that:

The judgment 'good' does *not* derive from those to whom 'goodness' is shown! Rather, the 'good' themselves – that is, the noble, the powerful, the superior, the high-minded – were the

ones who felt themselves and their actions to be good – that is, as of first rank – and posited them as such, in contrast to everything low, low-minded, common, and plebeian. On the basis of this *pathos of distance*, they first arrogated the right to create values, to coin the names of values. (Nietzsche, 1887/2008: 12)

This means, to put it in the context of ESD, that whatever children and teachers do or say in any given situation (when they are working with ethics by way of ESD), focus seems to be automatically placed on being able to understand and to relate to the ethical framework – by learning to recognize individual expressions as corresponding to, or failing to correspond to, normative ideals – assumed to exist somewhere beyond (and independently of) the concrete setting of ECE, thereby constraining the concept of ethics in a way that – given other alternative understandings of ethics – it need not be constrained. From a different perspective, for instance, it would be less interesting to establish whether the action, in itself, is ethical in a decontextual sense as doing this necessarily seems to involve disregarding the pre-individual configurations of desires and affects that – from a Nietzschean and Deleuzian perspective – has given rise to the normative ideals in the first place.

Approaching ethics, then, in a manner that assumes that the ethical principles needed for facilitating an ethical life have already been established requires the perpetual abstraction of actions into norms (that are understood to be always already there), making the whole process of learning constrained by its form insofar as it appears difficult to move beyond recognizing and validating the prevailing normative ideals. It also renders it more or less impossible to conceptualize education on ethics to be about creating new values as the ethical values are assumed to have always existed. For such a conception of (immanent) ethics to be possible (and, in extension, to be educable), it seems that one first has to reassess some of the conditions of the prevailing ethical framework. Only then can ethics in education take on any other form than that of recognition.

One of the perceived problems with relying on an ethics of recognition seems to be that it functions by furthering an unreflected reinforcement and perpetuation of a current social order (as concluded in De Lucia Dahlbeck & Dahlbeck, 2011). This appears to be inherent in the form of recognition, and, as an effect tends to shape any system or social institution relying on this form. The traditional Western form of schooling, for instance, is very much relying on the form of recognition insofar as it appears preoccupied with affirming and reaffirming the predominant social order. This, in turn, appears to risk leading to an inability to perceive of things outside the very limited scope of what already is.

Hence, to reassess contemporary education would involve – much like with the reassessment of ethics – focusing on the very mechanisms allowing for a certain order of things; that is, focusing on explaining and problematizing the conditions of that particular order so as to denaturalize it and thereby open up for other possible ways of imagining and configuring the social order.

My aim has not been to deconstruct the prevailing ethical framework in order to offer any conclusive answers as to how ethics and education should be conceived ideally or how ethical concerns should be expressed or dealt with in contemporary ECE. This is precisely the kinds of answers that I am unable to present given the theoretical foundation of this thesis. That is, I cannot tell you what ethics is without resorting to abstract ideas that would only serve to confirm the assumed link between the idea of ethics and the particular actions that it is believed to give rise to. I can only ever account for what it does in particular situations; situations where the ethical framework is invoked and thereby manifested. By doing this, I have endeavored to offer an informed glimpse into what is 'thinkable' and 'knowable' within a particular social order, through the use of paradigmatic examples from ESD in the context of Swedish ECE. These examples, in turn, have been picked out so as to reveal some of the conceptual limits of the conditions of that particular social order.

By identifying some of the fissures in the educational practices invoking the ethical framework, I have attempted to identify a starting point for thinking about ethics in new and different ways: ways that are a little less restricted by that which already is and perhaps more geared towards territorializing the unknown. As

such, one might begin to map out an ethical foundation that is less concerned with conforming things and events to recognizable patterns and more curious about what a particular social configuration seems to open up for in terms of possible trajectories. By destabilizing the notion that ethics can be traced back to a supposedly transcendent source, I have attempted to complicate the seemingly stable relation between ethical principles and individual actions. Without a universally valid and reliable yardstick with which to measure and evaluate actions, the meaning of every action and event seems to depend on the specific context in which they appear. In order to begin to think in terms of constructing educational tools geared for handling things on their own terms (rather than arranging things according to a pre-given order) it seems called for to instigate a serious discussion about identifying new ways of understanding the configuration of the social and the ethical.

On a fundamental level, such a discussion could for instance involve a reevaluation of ethics, moving from an ethics that proceeds from the given (that is, from the assumed stability of ethical principles) to an ethics that proceeds instead from an absence of the given. Such a shift would mean - among other things - that our conception of good and evil would need to be constantly reevaluated in relation to where (in what social and historical context) we are, to what purposes we have, and to what claims we assert. In an educational context this would involve opening up for a continuous preparation of ethical approaches that would be necessarily and inherently changeable as they would be conceptualized in the encounter with the unknown. From this perspective, the evaluative labels of good and evil could never be known beforehand, but would need to be temporarily established in relation to the specific ethical encounter between discrete bodies, informed by an understanding of the perspectival nature of knowledge. As such, it would involve doing away with the preconception that we have the ability to imagine (and understand) what other people experience and how other people are affected. Such an ethics would depend instead upon the acceptance of the assumption that the only way we have access to the external world is through our own bodies and that therefore our conception of good and bad is inevitably under the constant influence of our bodily drives and affects.

As the ethical framework surrounding ESD practices in the context of ECE seems primarily equipped to alleviate the identification of ethical actions in relation to *a priori* principles – as being either ethical or unethical in a universal sense – there is a tendency to treat the standards against which actions are being evaluated as unproblematic and stable in themselves. Perhaps these standards ought not to be taken at face value however. Perhaps they ought to be treated as conceptual tools for making sense of and organizing the external world rather than immutable standards readily available in the external world. To this end, it is worth considering the words of the Stoic philosopher Epictetus:

[5] But standards of reasonableness and unreasonableness vary from one person to the next – just as we consider different things good or bad, harmful or beneficial. [6] Which is why education has no goal more important than bringing our preconceptions of what is reasonable and unreasonable in alignment with nature.

[7] But this not only involves weighing the value of externals, it also means considering what agrees with our own, individual nature. (Epictetus, 2008: 5)

Accordingly, to acknowledge the inherently prejudiced nature of knowledge – in the sense that all knowledge appears to be grounded in particular perspectives – also means upgrading the status of the understandings of the individual. Because, if the yardstick with which we measure an ethical life can never be one and the same for all (unless it is taken to originate from a transcendent source), it would appear that it needs to be firmly rooted in the specific needs of the individual. That is, it would need to be geared for guiding the individual's will to control towards that which is within its reach. As the will of the individual seems to have no power over universal ethical principles, it appears reasonable to assume that it would be more productive to direct it towards one's personal evaluations and one's responses to external forces. Accordingly, by de-

stabilizing the ethical standards that are manifested through the human rights framework we find that it sets in motion a series of potential changes from the most abstract to the most concrete level. From an educational perspective, this is most interesting, as it gives rise to a host of new problems and questions to be dealt with within the converging fields of ethics and education.

REFERENCES

- Agamben, G. (2002/2004). *The Open: Man and Animal* (Trans. K. Attell). Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press.
- Agamben, G. (2008/2009). *The Signature of All Things: On Method* (Trans. L. D'Isanto & K. Attell). Brooklyn, NY: Zone Books.
- Agenda 21 (2005). United Nations Division for Sustainable Development: http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/documents/agenda21/english/agenda21toc.ht m (available March 11, 2011).
- Ansell-Pearson, K. (1991). Nietzsche on Autonomy and Morality: The Challenge to Political Theory. *Political Studies*, *39*(2), pp. 270–286.
- Ansell-Pearson, K. (2011). Beyond Compassion: On Nietzsche's Moral Therapy in *Dawn. Continental Philosophy Review*, *44*(2), pp. 179–204.
- Appiah, K. A. (1994). Loyalty to Humanity. *Boston Review*, 19(5), available at http://bostonreview.net/BR19.5/BR19.5.html.
- Appiah, K. A. (2006). Cosmopolitanism: Ethics in a World of Strangers. New York: Norton.
- Ariès, P. (1960/1962). *Centuries of Childhood: A Social History of Family Life* (Trans. R. Baldick). New York: Vintage Books.
- Battail, J.-F. (2005). Den svenska folkbildningen och drömmen om det goda medborgarskapet. In: Kylhammar, M. & Godhe, M. (eds), *Frigörare?: moderna svenska samhällsdrömmar*. Stockholm: Carlsson, pp. 96–115.
- Beck, U. (2006). *The Cosmopolitan Vision* (Trans. C. Cronin). Cambridge: Polity.
- Benhabib, S. (2006). *Another Cosmopolitanism*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cartwright, D. E. (1984). Kant, Schopenhauer, and Nietzsche on the Morality of Pity. *Journal of the History of Ideas*, *45*(1), pp. 83–98.
- Corsaro, W. A. (1987). *Friendship and Peer Culture in the Early Years*. New Jersey: Ablex Publishing Corporation.

- Cox, C. (2006). Nietzsche, Dionysus, and the Ontology of Music, in: K. A. Pearson (ed.) *A Companion to Nietzsche*. Malden: Blackwell Publishing, pp. 495–513.
- Cruikshank, B. (1999). The Will to Empower: Democratic Citizens and other Subjects. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Cunningham, H. (2005). *Children and Childhood in Western Society Since* 1500 (2nd edn.). Harlow: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Dahlbeck, J. (2011). Towards a Pure Ontology: Children's Bodies and Morality. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*. Doi: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.2011.00775.x
- Dahlbeck, J. (2012) On Childhood and the Logic of Difference: Some Empirical Examples. *Children & Society.* 26(1), pp. 4–13.
- Dahlbeck, J. & De Lucia Dahlbeck, M. (2012). 'Needle and Stick' Save the World: Sustainable Development and the Universal Child. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 33(2), pp. 267–281.
- Dahlbeck, J. & Tallberg Broman, I. (2011). Ett bättre samhälle genom pedagogik: om högre värden och barnet som budbärare, in: P. Williams & S. Sheridan (eds) *Barns lärande i ett livslångt perspektiv.* Stockholm: Liber, pp. 202–214.
- Dahlberg, G. (2003). Pedagogy as a Loci of an Ethics of an Encounter, in: M. N. Bloch, K. Holmlund, I. Moqvist & T. S. Popkewitz (eds) Governing Children, Families and Education: Restructuring the Welfare State. New York: Palgrave MacMillan, pp. 261–286.
- Dahlberg, G. & Moss, P. (2005). *Ethics and Politics in Early Childhood Education*. London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Davies, J., Engdahl, I., Otieno, L., Pramling Samuelsson, I., Siraj-Blatchford, J. & Vallabh, P. (2009). Early Childhood Education for Sustainability: Recommendations for Development. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 41(2), pp. 113–117.
- Deleuze, G. (1962/2006). *Nietzsche and Philosophy* (Trans. H. Tomlinson). New York: Columbia University Press.
- Deleuze, G. (1963/2008). *Kant's Critical Philosophy: The Doctrine of the Faculties* (Trans. H. Tomlinson & B. Habberjam). London: Continuum.
- Deleuze, G. (1968/2004). *Difference and Repetition* (Trans. P. Patton). London: Continuum.
- Deleuze, G. (1969/2004). The Logic of Sense (Trans. M. Lester with C. Stivale). London: Continuum.
- Deleuze, G. (1970/1988). *Spinoza: Practical Philosophy* (Trans. R. Hurley). San Fransisco: City Light Books.

- Deleuze, G. (1978a). Les Cours de Gilles Deleuze: Kant, 14/03/1978, Synthesis and Time (Trans. M. MacMahon). Retrieved 20/09/2011, from www.webdeleuze.com
- Deleuze, G. (1978b). *Les Cours de Gilles Deleuze: Kant, 04/04/1978* (Trans. M. MacMahon). Retrieved 20/09/2011, from www.webdeleuze.com
- Deleuze, G. (1980a). Les Cours de Gilles Deleuze: Spinoza, 09/12/1980, Power and Classical Natural Right (Trans. S. Duffy). Retrieved 05/05/2010, from www.webdeleuze.com
- Deleuze, G. (1980b). Les Cours de Gilles Deleuze: Spinoza, 21/12/1980, Ontology Ethics (Trans. S. Duffy). Retrieved 03/05/2010, from www.webdeleuze.com
- Deleuze, G. (1985/1989). *Cinema 2: The Time-Image* (Trans. H. Tomlinson & R. Galeta). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Deleuze, G. (1990/1995). *Negotiations, 1972–1990* (Trans. M. Joughin). New York: Columbia University Press.
- Deleuze, G. & Guattari, F. (1972/2004). *Anti-Oedipus: Capitalism and Schiz-ophrenia* (Trans. R. Hurley, M. Seem & H. R. Lane). London: Continuum.
- Deleuze, G. Guattari, F. (1980/2004). *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia* (Trans. B. Massumi). London: Continuum.
- Deleuze, G. & Guattari, F. (1991/1994). What is Philosophy? (Trans. H. Tomlinson & H. Burchill). London: Verso.
- De Lucia Dahlbeck, M. & Dahlbeck, J. (2011). Evaluating Life: Working with Ethical Dilemmas in Education for Sustainable Development. *Law, Culture and the Humanities*. Doi: 10.1177/1743872111425977
- Descartes, R. (1641/1996). *Meditations on First Philosophy: With Selections from the Objections and Replies* (Trans. J. Cottingham). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Eisenberg, N. & Strayer, J. (1987). *Empathy and its Development*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Epictetus. (2008). *Discourses and Selected Writings* (Trans. R. Doddin). London: Penguin Classics.
- European Panel on Sustainable Development (EPSD) (2010). *Taking Children Seriously: How the EU Can Invest in Early Childhood Education for a Sustainable Future.* Report no. 4, 17 December 2010. Gothenburg: Intellecta Docusys.
- Fitzsimons, P. (2007). The 'End' of Kant-in-Himself: Nietzschean Difference. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 39*(5), pp. 559–570.
- Giesinger, J. (2010). Free Will and Education. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, *44*(4), pp. 515–528.

- Giesinger, J. (2012). Kant's Account of Moral Education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*. 44(7), pp. 775–786.
- Habermas, J. (1998/2001). *The Postnational Constellation: Political Essays* (Trans. M. Pensky). Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Hacking, I. (1999). *The Social Construction of What?* Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Halvar-Franzén, B. (2010). *Barn och etik: möten och möjlighetsvillkor i två förskoleklassers vardag.* Diss. Stockholm: Stockholms Universitet.
- Hammar, I. (1999). Emancipation och religion: den svenska kvinnorörelsens pionjärer i debatt om kvinnans kallelse ca 1860-1900. Stockholm: Carlsson.
- Hemrica, J. & Heyting, F. (2004). Tacit Notions of Childhood: An Analysis of Discourse about Child Participation in Decision-Making Regarding Arrangements in Case of Parental Divorce. *Childhood*, 11(4), pp. 449–468.
- Hoffman, M. L. (1987). The Contribution of Empathy to Justice and Moral Judgment, in: N. Eisenberg & J. Strayer (eds) *Empathy and its Development.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.47–80.
- Holmgren, A. (2006). *Klassrummets relationsetik: det pedagogiska mötet som etiskt fenomen.* Diss. Umeå: Umeå Universitet.
- Hägglund, S. & Pramling Samuelsson, I. (2009). Early Childhood Education and Learning for Sustainable Development and Citizenship. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 41(2), pp. 49–63.
- James, A. & James, A. L. (2004). *Constructing Childhood: Theory, Policy and Social Practice.* Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Johansson, E. (1999). Etik i små barns värld: om värden och normer bland de yngsta barnen i förskolan. Diss. Göteborg: Acta Universitatis Gothoburgensis.
- Johansson, E. (2007). *Etiska överenskommelser i förskolebarns världar.* Göteborg: Acta Universitatis Gothoburgensis.
- Johnston, J. S. (2007). Moral Law and Moral Education: Defending Kantian Autonomy. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 41(2), pp. 233–245.
- Kant, I. (1784/1996). An Answer to the Question: What is Enlightenment?, in: M. Gregor (ed.) The Cambridge Edition of the Works of Immanuel Kant: Practical Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 11–22.
- Kant, I. (1785/1996). Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals, in: M. Gregor (ed.) The Cambridge Edition of the Works of Immanuel Kant: Practical Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 37–108.

- Kant, I. (1788/1996). Critique of Practical Reason, in: M. Gregor (ed.) The Cambridge Edition of the Works of Immanuel Kant: Practical Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 137–271.
- Kant, I. (1795/1996). Toward Perpetual Peace, in: M. Gregor (ed.) The Cambridge Edition of the Works of Immanuel Kant: Practical Philosophy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 311–351.
- Kant, I. (1803/2007). Lectures on Pedagogy, in: R. B. Louden and G. Zöller (eds) The Cambridge Edition of the Works of Immanuel Kant: Anthropology, History, and Education. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 434–485.
- Kohlberg, L. (1976). Moral Stages and Moralization: The Cognitive-Developmental Approach, in: T. Lickona (ed) Moral Development and Behaviour: Theory, Research, and Social Issues. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Larsson, B., Andersson, M. & Osbeck, C. (2010). Bringing Environmentalism Home: Children's Influence on Family Consumption in the Nordic Countries and Beyond. *Childhood*, 17(1), pp. 129–147.
- Larsson, B. (2011). Barns fostran till världsmedborgare: om eko-disciplin i skola och familj, in: B. Larsson & O. Engdahl (eds) *Social kontroll: övervakning, disciplinering och självreglering.* Stockholm: Liber, pp. 167–184.
- Lauder, H., Brown, P., Dillabough, J. & Halsey, A. H. (2006). Introduction: Prospects for Education, in: H. Lauder, P. Brown, J. Dillabough, & A. H. Halsey (eds) *Education, Globalization & Social Change*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1–70.
- Lefebvre, A. (2006). The Image of Law: Deleuze, Bergson, Spinoza. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press.
- May, T. & Semetsky, I. (2008). Deleuze, Ethical Education, and the Unconscious, in: I. Semetsky (ed.) *Nomadic Education: Variations on a Theme by Deleuze and Guattari*. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers, pp. 143–158.
- McCarthy, C. (1992). *Blood Meridian: Or the Evening Redness in the West.* New York: Vintage Books.
- Moberg, E. & Moberg, M. (1913). *Sånglekar för barnträdgården och småskolan.* Stockholm: A. Lundquists musikförlag.
- Moberg, E. & Moberg, M. (1923). *Sånglekar för barnträdgården och småskolan.* Stockholm: A. Lundquists musikförlag.
- Moran, K. A. (2009). Can Kant Have an Account of Moral Education? *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 43(4), pp. 471–484.
- Morgenstern, L. (1867). Barndomens paradis: praktisk och utförlig handbok för mödrar och lärarinnor i småbarnskolorna. Örebro: N.M. Lindh.

- Myrdal, A. (1935). *Stadsbarn: en bok om deras fostran i storbarnkammare.* Stockholm: Kooperativa förbundet.
- Nadler, S. (2006). Spinoza's Ethics: An Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Nietzsche, F. (1881/2011). *Dawn: Thoughts on the Prejudices of Morality* (Trans. B. Smith). Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Nietzsche, F. (1887/2008). *On the Genealogy of Morals: A Polemic* (Trans. D. Smith). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nietzsche, F. (1888/2006). Twilight of the Idols, or, How to Philosophize with a Hammer, in: K. Ansell-Pearson & D. Large (eds) The Nietzsche Reader. Malden, MA: Blackwell, pp. 456–485.
- Noddings, N. (2002). *Educating Moral People: A Caring Alternative to Character Education*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Noddings, N. (2007). *Philosophy of Education* (2nded.). Boulder, Colo.: Westview press.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (1994). Patriotism and Cosmopolitanism. *Boston Review*, 19(5), available at http://bostonreview.net/BR19.5/BR19.5.html.
- O'Doherty, D. & O'Shea, A. (2005). Writing: Labour. *Ephemera: Theory and Politics in Organization*, *5*(1). Retrieved 26 April 2010 from www.ephemeraweb.org database.
- Papastephanou, M. (2005). Globalisation, Globalism and Cosmopolitanism as an Educational Ideal. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 37(4), pp. 533–551.
- Piaget, J. (1932/1960). The Moral Judgement of the Child (Trans. M. Gabain). London: Routledge and Kegan Paul Ltd.
- Popkewitz, T. S. (2007). Alchemies and Governing: Or, Questions About the Questions We Ask. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *39*(1), pp. 64–83.
- Popkewitz, T. S. (2008). Cosmopolitanism and the Age of School Reform: Science, Education, and Making Society by Making the Child. New York: Routledge.
- Pramling Samuelsson, I. (2008). Att lära för hållbar utveckling. *Förskoleforum*. March 2008, www.forskoleforum.se.
- Roth, K. (2011). Good Will: Cosmopolitan Education as a Site for Deliberation. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 43*(3), pp. 298–312.
- Rönnström, N. (2011). Cosmopolitan Communication and the Broken Dream of a Common Language. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 43(3), pp. 260–282.
- Schopenhauer, A. (1840/1998). *On the Basis of Morality* (Trans. E. F. J. Payne). Indianapolis: Hackett Pub.

- Sellar, S. (2009). The Responsible Uncertainty of Pedagogy. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, *30*(3), pp. 347–360.
- Semetsky, I. (2003). Deleuze's New Image of Thought, or Dewey Revisited. *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 35*(1), pp. 17–29.
- Semetsky, I. (2004a). Experiencing Deleuze. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *36*(3), pp. 227–231.
- Semetsky, I. (2004b). Becoming-Language/Becoming-Other: Whence Ethics? *Educational Philosophy and Theory, 36*(3), pp. 313–325.
- Semetsky, I. (2009). Deleuze Pure and Applied: Becoming-ethical, in: D. Masny & D. R. Cole (eds) Multiple Literacies Theory: A Deleuzian Perspective. Rotterdam: Sense Publishers, pp. 93–104.
- Siraj-Blatchform, J. (2009). Editorial: Education for Sustainable Development in Early Childhood. *International Journal of Early Childhood, 41*(2), pp. 9–22
- Skolverket (1998). Curriculum for the Pre-School Lpfö 98.
- Smith, D. (2008). Introduction, in: F. Nietzsche (1887/2008) On the Genealogy of Morals: A Polemic (Trans. D. Smith). Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. vii–xxxi.
- Smith, D. W. (2003). Deleuze and Derrida, Immanence and Transcendence: Two Directions in Recent French Thought, in: P. Patton & J. Protevi (eds) *Between Deleuze and Derrida*. London: Continuum, pp. 46–66.
- Smith, D. W. (2006). Deleuze, Kant, and the Theory of Immanent Ideas, in: C. V. Boundas (ed.) *Deleuze and Philosophy*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, pp. 43–61.
- Smith, D. W. (2007). Deleuze and the Question of Desire: Toward an Immanent Theory of Ethics. *Parrhesia*, number 2, pp. 66–78.
- Solomon, R. C. (2002). Nietzsche on Fatalism and 'Free Will'. *Journal of Nietzsche Studies*, *23*, pp. 63–87.
- Spindler, F. (2009). *Spinoza: Multitud, affekt, kraft.* Munkedal: Glänta produktion.
- Spinoza, B. (1677/2001). Ethics (Trans. W. H. White). Ware: Wordsworth Editions Ltd.
- Stiftelsen Håll Sverige Rent (HSR). Tema Livsstil och hälsa: http://www.hsr.se/tema_livsstil_halsa (available February 18, 2011).
- Tallberg Broman, I. (1991). När arbetet var lönen: En kvinnohistorisk studie av barnträdgårdsledarinnan som folkuppfostrare. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International. Studia psychologica et paedagogica. Series altera, 99.

- Tallberg Broman, I. (2010). Svensk förskola ett kvalitetsbegrepp. In: Riddersporre, B. & Persson, S. (eds), *Utbildningsvetenskap för förskolan.* Stockholm: Natur & Kultur, pp. 21–38.
- Tholander, M. (2002). *Doing Morality in School: Teasing, Gossip and Subteaching as Collaborative Action.* Diss. Linköping: Tema Barn, Linköpings Universitet.
- United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED) (1992). *Rio Declaration on Environment and Development*: http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/agreed.htm (available March 11, 2011).
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) (2007). The UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development, 2005–2014, UNESCO: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001540/154093e.pdf.
- Utbildningsdepartementet (2010). Förordning om ändring i förordningen (/SKOLFS 1998:16) om läroplan för förskolan.
- Waks, L. J. (2009). Reason and Culture in Cosmopolitan Education. *Educational Theory*, 59(5), pp. 589–604.
- Watkins, M. (2006). Pedagogic Affect/Effect: Embodying a Desire to Learn. *Pedagogies: An International Journal*, 1(4), pp. 269–282.
- Watkins, M. (2007). Disparate Bodies: The Role of the Teacher in Contemporary Pedagogic Practice. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 28(6), pp. 767–781.
- World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) (1987). *Our Common Future*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Åberg, I. (1988). Revivalism, Philanthropy and Emancipation: Women's Liberation and Organisation in the Early Nineteenth Century. *Scandinavian Journal of History*, 13(4), pp. 399–420.
- Åberg, I. (1995). Filantroper i aktion: Filantropiska fruntimmersföreningar i det tidiga 1800-talet. In: Taussi Sjöberg, M. & Vammen, T. (eds), *På tröskeln till välfärden: välgörenhetsformer och arenor i Norden 1800–1930.* Stockholm: Carlsson, pp. 9–33.

Doctoral Dissertations in Education published by the Malmö School of Education

From the publication series Studia Psychologica et Paedagogica - Series Altera Editors: Åke Bjerstedt & Horst Löfgren

- 17. Löfgren, Horst: The Measurement of Language Proficiency. 1972.
- 18. Bierschenk, Bernhard: Självkonfrontation via intern television i lärarutbildningen. 1972.
- 19. Gestrelius, Kurt: Job Analysis and Determination of Training Needs. 1972.
- 21. Larsson, Inger: Individualized Mathematics Teaching. 1973.
- Fredriksson, Lennart: The Use of Self-Observation and Questionnaires in Job Analysis.1974.
- 23. Idman, Pekka: Equality and Democracy: Studies of Teacher Training. 1974.
- 26. Holmberg, Ingrid: Effects of Some Trials to Improve Mathematics Teaching. 1975.
- 27. Lindsten, Carin: Hembygdskunskap i årskurs 3. 1975.
- 29. Nordén, Kerstin: Psychological Studies of Deaf Adolescents. 1975.
- 31. Jernryd, Elisabeth: "Optimal auktoritets- och propagandaresistens". 1976.
- 33. Wiechel, Lennart: Roller och rollspel. 1976.
- 34. Hedlund, Carl: Commissioned Army Officers. 1976.
- 37. Wetterström, Magnhild: Medinflytande i skolan. 1977.
- 42. Eneskär, Barbro: Children's Language at Four and Six. 1978.
- 45. Leonardsson, Sigurd: Den franska grammatikens historia i Sverige. I. 1978.
- 46. Leonardsson, Sigurd: Histoire de la Grammaire Française en Suède. II. 1978.
- 48. Lindholm, Lena-Pia: Pupils' Attitudes to Equality between the Sexes. 1980.
- 50. Carlström, Inge: Law and Justice Education. 1980.
- 53. Fritzell, Christer: Teaching, Science and Ideology. 1981.
- 56. Wiechel, Anita: Olika personalgruppers åsikter om barn i förskola och på lågstadium. 1981.
- Gran, Birgitta: Från förskola till grundskola: Villkor för barns utveckling i åldrarna kring skolstarten. 1982.
- 65. Annerblom, Marie-Louise: Att förändra könsroller. 1983.
- 66. Holmberg, Lena: Om en speciallärares vardag: Analys av en dagbok. 1983.
- 67. Skov, Poul: Værdinormer om skolen: Analyse af konfliktmuligheder og mulige udviklingslinjer. 1983.
- Carlsson, Gunborg: Teater f\u00f6r barn: Tre \u00e4ldersgruppers upplevelser av professionell teater. 1984.
- 70. Welwert, Claes: Läsa eller lyssna? 1984.
- 71. Klasson, Maj: Högskolebibliotek i förändring. 1984.
- 76. Jönsson, Annelis: TV ett hot eller en resurs för barn? 1985.
- 77. Berglund, Lars: Decentraliserat högstadium. 1985.
- Hellström, Leif: Undervisningsmetodisk förändring i matematik: Villkor och möjligheter. 1985.
- 84. Bjurwill, Christer: Framtidsföreställningar. 1986.
- 85. Åkerberg, Hans: Livet som utmaning: Existentiell ångest hos svenska gymnasieelever. 1987.
- 87. Berglund, Brigitte: Pedagogiska dagböcker i lärarutbildningen. 1988.

- 88. Svensson, Bengt E.: Mot samlad skoldag. 1988.
- 89. Rosenqvist, Jerry: Särskolan i ett arbetsmarknadsperspektiv. 1988.
- 91. Varming, Ole: Holdninger til børn. 1988.
- 93. Löfqvist, Gert: The IEA Study of Written Composition in Sweden. 1990.
- 94. Digerfeldt, Gunvor: Utvecklingspsykologiska och estetiska aspekter på danslek. 1990.
- 95. Ekstrand, Gudrun: Kulturens barn: Kontrastiva analyser av kulturmönster avseende förhållandet till barn och ungdom i Sverige och Orissa, Indien. 1990.
- 96. Rooke, Liselotte: Omvårdnad och omvårdnadsteoretiska strukturer. 1990.
- 99. Tallberg Broman, Ingegerd: När arbetet var lönen. 1991.
- Derbring, Lena & Stölten, Charlotte: Sjuksköterskeutbildningens forskningsanknytning

 vision och verklighet. 1992.
- 101. Nissen, Poul: Om børn og unge med fastlåst identitetsudvikling. 1992.
- 102. Helldén, Gustav: Grundskoleelevers förståelse av ekologiska processer. 1992.
- 103. Tvingstedt, Anna-Lena: Sociala betingelser för hörselskadade elever i vanliga klasser. 1993.
- 104. Kühne, Brigitte: Biblioteket skolans hjärna? Skolbiblioteket som resurs i det undersökande arbetssättet på grundskolan. 1993.
- 105. Svensson, Ann-Katrin: Tidig språkstimulering av barn. 1993.
- 106. Rubinstein Reich, Lena: Samling i förskolan. 1993.
- 108. Heiling, Kerstin: Döva barns utveckling i ett tidsperspektiv. 1993.
- 111. Henrysson, Lennart: Syo-kulturer i skolan. 1994.
- 113. Persson, Sven: Föräldrars föreställningar om barn och barnomsorg. 1994.
- 114. Klason, Satya Mehndiratta: The Quality of Social Relations and Some Aspects of Self-Conception of a Group of Elderly People. 1994.
- 115. Persson, Bodil: När kvinnorna kom in i männens värld. Framväxten av ett kvinnligt tekniskt yrke Laboratorieassistent under perioden 1880–1941. 1994.
- 116. Morsing Berglund, Barbro: Förskolans program för sexåringar. 1994.
- 117. Gunnarsson, Bernt: En annorlunda skolverklighet. 1995.
- Persson, Ann-Elise: Ungdomars åsikter om orsaker till, effekter av och åtgärder mot vardagsvåldet. 1995.
- 122. Ursberg, Maria: Det möjliga mötet: En studie av fritidspedagogers förhållningssätt i samspel med barngrupper inom skolbarnsomsorgen. 1996.
- 123. Willman, Ania: Hälsa är att leva: En teoretisk och empirisk analys av begreppet hälsa med exempel från geriatrisk omvårdnad. 1996.
- 124. Hjorth, Marie-Louise: Barns tankar om lek: En undersökning av hur barn uppfattar leken i förskolan. 1996.
- 128. Engström, Arne: Reflektivt tänkande i matematik: Om elevers konstruktioner av bråk. 1997.
- Elmeroth, Elisabeth: Alla lika alla olika: Skolsituationen för elever med båda föräldrarna födda utomlands. 1997.
- 133. Lepp, Margret: Pedagogiskt drama med fokus på personlig utveckling och yrkesmässig växt: En studie inom sjuksköterske- och vårdlärarutbildningen. 1998.
- 134. Viggósson, Haukur: I fjärran blir fjällen blå: En komparativ studie av isländska och svenska grundskolor samt sex fallstudier om närhet som en förutsättning för pedagogiskt ledarskap. 1998.

- 136. Vallberg Roth, Ann-Christine: Könsdidaktiska mönster i förskolepedagogiska texter. 1998.
- 138. Folkesson, Anne-Mari: Muntlig framställning i årskurs 5. 1998.
- 140. Olofsson, Sten-Sture: Kvinnliga rektorers ledarstil i svensk grundskola. 1998.
- 142. Karlsudd, Peter: Särskolebarn i integrerad skolbarnsomsorg. 1999.
- 143. Eriksson, Keijo: På spaning efter livets mening: Om livsfrågor och livsåskådning hos äldre grundskoleelever i en undervisningsmiljö som befrämjar kunskapande. 1999.
- Utas Carlsson, Karin: Violence Prevention and Conflict Resolution: A Study of Peace Education in Grades 4-6, 1999.
- 145. Havung, Margareta: Anpassning till rådande ordning: En studie av manliga förskollärare i förskoleverksamhet. 2000.
- 146. Hamilton, Ingela: Leva med stroke lära av erfarenheter. 2000.
- 147. Månsson, Annika: Möten som formar: Interaktionsmönster på förskola mellan pedagoger och de yngsta barnen i ett genusperspektiv. 2000.
- 148. Albinsson, Gunilla & Arnesson, Kerstin: Maktutövning ur ett organisations- och genusperspektiv: En studie vid tre vårdavdelningar. 2000.
- 149. Campart, Martina: Schooling Emotional Intelligence through Narrative and Dialogue: Implications for the Education of Children and Adolescents. 2000.
- 150. Arvidsson, Barbro: Group Supervision in Nursing Care: A Longitudinal Study of Psychiatric Nurses' Experiences and Conceptions. 2000.
- 151. Sandén, Ingrid: Skoldaghem: Ett alternativ för elever i behov av särskilt stöd. 2000.
- 152. Lovén, Anders: Kvalet inför valet: Om elevers förväntningar och möten med vägledare i grundskolan. 2000.
- 153. Ivarsson, Heléne: Hälsopedagogik i sjuksköterskeutbildningen. 2000.
- 154. Möller, Tore: Undervisa mot våld: Attityder, läromedel, arbetssätt. 2001.
- 155. Hartsmar, Nanny: Historiemedvetande: Elevers tidsförståelse i en skolkontext. 2001.
- 156. Jakobsson, Anders: Elevers interaktiva lärande vid problemlösning i grupp: En process-studie. 2001.
- 157. Möllehed, Ebbe: Problemlösning i matematik: En studie av påverkansfaktorer i årskurserna 4-9. 2001.
- 158. Wetterholm, Hans: En bildpedagogisk studie: Lärare undervisar och elever gör bilder. 2001.
- 160. El-Zraigat, Ibrahim: Hearing-impaired Students in Jordan. 2002.
- 161. Nelson, Anders & Nilsson, Mattias: Det massiva barnrummet. 2002.
- 162. Damgren, Jan: Föräldrars val av fristående skolor. 2002.
- 163. Lindahl, Ingrid: Att lära i mötet mellan estetik och rationalitet: Pedagogers vägledning och barns problemlösning genom bild och form. 2002.
- 164. Nordänger, Ulla Karin: Lärares raster: Innehåll i mellanrum. 2002.
- 165. Lindqvist, Per: Lärares förtroendearbetstid. 2002.
- 166. Lin, Hai Chun: Pedagogy of Heuristic Contexturalisation: Intercultural Transmission through Cross-cultural Encounters. 2002.
- 167. Permer, Karin & Permer, Lars Göran: Klassrummets moraliska ordning: Iscensättningen av lärare och elever som subjekt för ansvarsdiskursen i klassrummet. 2002.
- 168. Anderson, Lotta: Interpersonell kommunikation: En studie av elever med hörselnedsättning i särskolan. 2002.
- 169. Lundgren, Ulla: Interkulturell förståelse i engelskundervisning en möjlighet. 2002.

Malmö Studies in Educational Sciences

Doctoral Dissertations in Education Editor: Jerry Rosenqvist

&

Doctoral Dissertations in the Theory and Practice of Teaching and Learning Swedish Editor: Bengt Linnér

- Nilsson, Nils-Erik: Skriv med egna ord. En studie av läroprocesser när elever i grundskolans senare år skriver "forskningsrapporter". 2002.
- Adelman, Kent: Att lyssna till röster. Ett vidgat lyssnandebegrepp i ett didaktiskt perspektiv. 2002.
- Malm, Birgitte: Understanding what it means to be a Montessori teacher. Teachers' reflections on their lives and work. 2003.
- Ericsson, Ingegerd: Motorik, koncentrationsförmåga och skolprestationer. En interventionsstudie i skolår 1-3. 2003.
- 7. Foisack, Elsa: Döva barns begreppsbildning i matematik. 2003.
- 8. Olander, Ewy: Hälsovägledning i barnhälsovården. Syntetisering av två uppdrag. 2003.
- Lang, Lena: Och den ljusnande framtid är vår. Några ungdomars bild av sin gymnasietid. 2004.
- 10. Tullgren, Charlotte: Den välreglerade friheten: Att konstruera det lekande barnet. 2004.
- 11. Hägerfelth, Gun: Språkpraktiker i naturkunskap i två mångkulturella gymnasieklassrum: En studie av läroprocesser bland elever med olika förstaspråk. 2004.
- 12. Ljung-Djärf, Agneta: Spelet runt datorn: Datoranvändande som meningsskapande praktik i förskolan. 2004.
- Tannous, Adel: Childhood depression: Teachers' and children's perceptions of the symptoms and causes of depression in Jordan. 2004.
- 14. Karlsson, Leif: Folkhälsopedagogen söker legitimitet: Ett möte mellan pedagogik och verksamhetsförlagd utbildning. 2004.
- Selghed, Bengt: Ännu icke godkänt: Lärares sätt att erfara betygssystemet och dess tilllämpning i yrkesutövningen. 2004.
- 17. Göransson, Anna-Lena: Brandvägg: Ord och handling i en yrkesutbildning, 2004.
- 18. Olsson, Rose-Marie: Utbildningskontextens betydelse för lärandeprocesser: Datorstödd flexibel utbildningsmiljö för gymnasiestuderande. 2005.
- 19. Enö, Mariann: Att våga flyga: Ett deltagarorienterat projekt om samtalets potential och förskolepersonals konstruktion av det professionella subjektet. 2005.
- 20. Bergöö, Kerstin: Vilket svenskämne? Grundskolans svenskämnen i ett lärarutbildningsperspektiv. 2005.
- Hallstedt, Pelle & Högström, Mats: The Recontextualisation of Social Pedagogy. A study of three curricula in the Netherlands, Norway and Ireland. 2005.
- 22. Cederberg, Meta: Utifrån sett inifrån upplevt. Några unga kvinnor som kom till Sveige i tonåren och deras möte med den svenska skolan. 2006.
- 23. Malmberg, Claes: Kunskapsbygge på nätet En studie av studenter i dialog. 2006.
- 24. Korp, Helena: Lika chanser på gymnasiet? En studie om betyg, nationella prov och social reproduktion. 2006.
- 25. Bommarco, Birgitta: Texter i dialog En studie i gymnasieelevers litteraturläsning. 2006.

Malmö Studies in Educational Sciences

Doctoral Dissertations in Education Editor: Lena Holmberg (until April 4, 2007) Editor: Feiwel Kupferberg (from April 5, 2007)

&

Doctoral Dissertations in the Theory and Practice of Teaching and Learning Swedish

Editor: Bengt Linnér (until June 30, 2008) Editor: Johan Elmfeldt (from July 1, 2008) Editor: Cecilia Olsson Jers (from June 1, 2011)

- Petersson, Eva: Non-formal Learning through Ludic Engagement within Interactive Environments 2006.
- Cederwald, Elisabeth: Reflektion och självinsikt i "Den kommunikativa pedagogiken"
 2006
- Assarsson, Inger: Talet om en skola för alla. Pedagogers meningskonstruktion i ett politiskt uppdrag. 2007.
- Ewald, Annette: Läskulturer. Lärare, elever och litteraturläsning i grundskolans mellanår. 2007.
- 30. Bouakaz, Laid: Parental involvement in school. What hinders and what promotes parental involvement in an urban school. 2007.
- 31. Sandell, Anna: Utbildningssegregation och självsortering. Om gymnasieval, genus och lokala praktiker. 2007.
- 32. Al-Sa'd, Ahmed: Evaluation of students' attitudes towards vocational education in Jordan. 2007
- 33. Jönsson, Karin: Litteraturarbetets möjligheter. En studie av barns läsning i årskurs F-3. 2007.
- 34. Lilja Andersson, Petra: Vägar genom sjuksköterskeutbildningen. Studenters berättelser. 2007.
- 35. Jonsdottir, Fanny: Barns kamratrelationer i förskolan. Samhörighet tillhörighet vänskap utanförskap. 2007.
- Bergman, Lotta: Gymnasieskolans svenskämnen. En studie av svenskundervisningen i fyra gymnasieklasser. 2007.
- 37. Schyberg, Solbritt: Högskolelärares personliga teorier om sin pedagogiska praktik. 2007.
- 38. Eilard, Angerd: Modern, svensk och jämställd. Om barn, familj och omvärld i grundskolans läseböcker 1962 2007. 2008.
- Davidsson, Eva: Different images of science. A study of how science is constituted in exhibitions. 2008.
- 40. Vincenti Malmgren, Therese: Motiverande grundskolemiljö med fokus på klassrummet. En analys utifrån det obligatoriska skolväsendets läroplansmålsättningar. 2008.
- 41. Jönsson, Anders: Educative assessment for/of teacher competency. A study of assessment and learning in the "Interactive examination" for student teachers. 2008.
- 42. Parmenius Swärd, Suzanne: Skrivande som handling och möte. Gymnasieelever om skrivuppgifter, tidsvillkor och bedömning i svenskämnet. 2008.
- 43. Brante, Göran. Lärare av idag. Om konstitueringen av identitet och roll. 2008.
- 44. Lutz, Kristian. Kategoriseringar av barn i förskoleåldern. Styrning & administrativa processer. 2009.

- 45. Löfgren, Lena. Everything has its processes, one could say. A longitudinal study following students' ideas about transformations of matter from age 7 to 16. 2009.
- Ekberg, Jan-Eric. Mellan fysisk bildning och aktivering. En studie av ämnet idrott och hälsa i skolår 9. 2009.
- 47. Johnsson, Annette. Dialouges on the Net. Power structures in asynchronous discussions in the context of a web based teacher training course. 2009.
- 48. Hagström, Birthe. Kompletterande anknytningsperson på förskola. 2010.
 49. Jönsson, Lena. Elevers bilder av skolan. Vad elever berättar om och hur lärare och lärarstudenter reflekterar och samtalar om skolan utifrån elevers bilder. 2010.
- 50. Nilsson, Elisabet M. Simulated "real" worlds. Actions mediated through computer game play in science education. 2010.51. Olsson Jers, Cecilia. Klassrummet som muntlig arena. Att bygga och etablera ethos.
- 2010.52. Leijon, Marie. Att spåra tecken på lärande. Mediereception som pedagogisk form och
- multimodalt meningsskapande över tid. 2010.
- 54. Horck, Jan. Meeting diversities in maritime education. A blend from World Maritime University. 2010.
 55. Londos, Mikael. Spelet på fältet. Relationen mellan ämnet idrott och hälsa i gymnasie-
- skolan och idrott på fritid. 2010.

 56. Christensen, Jonas. A profession in change a development ecology perspective. 2010.

 57. Amhag, Lisbeth. Mellan jag och andra. Nätbaserade studentdialoger med argumentering
 - och responsgivande för lärande. 2010.

 Svensson, Anna-Karin. Lärarstudenters berättelser om läsning. Från tidig barndom till
- Löf, Camilla. Med livet på schemat. Om skolämnet livskunskap och den riskfyllda barndomen. 2011.
 Hansson, Fredrik, På jakt efter språk. Om språkdelen i gymnasjaskolans svenskämna.

mötet med lärarutbildningen. 2011.

- 60. Hansson, Fredrik. På jakt efter språk. Om språkdelen i gymnasieskolans svenskämne. 2011.
- 2011.
 61. Schenker, Katarina. På spaning efter idrottsdidaktik. 2011.
- 62. Larsson, Pia Nygård. Biologiämnets texter. Text, språk och lärande i en språkligt heterogen gymnasieklass. 2011.
 63. Palla Linda Med blicken på barnet. Om olikheter inom förskolan som diskursiv
- 63. Palla, Linda. Med blicken på barnet. Om olikheter inom förskolan som diskursiv praktik. 2011.
- 64. Lundström, Mats. Decision-making in health issues. Teenagers' use of science and other discourses. 2011.
- 65. Dahlbeck, Johan. On childhood and the good will. Thoughts on ethics and early childhood education. 2012.

Doctoral Dissertations published elsewhere

Ullström, Sten-Olof: Likt och olikt. Strindbergsbildens förvandlingar i gymnasiet. Stockholm/Stehag: Brutus Östlings Bokförlag Symposium. 2002. (Nr 1 i avhandlingsserien.)

Ulfgard, Maria: För att bli kvinna – och av lust. En studie i tonårsflickors läsning (Skrifter utgivna av Svenska barnboksinstitutet nr 78). Stockholm: B. Wahlströms. 2002. (Nr 2 i avhandlingsserien.)

Ursing, Anna-Maria: Fantastiska fröknar. Studier av lärarinnegestalter i svensk skönlitteratur. Eslöv: Östlings Bokförlag Symposium. 2004. (Nr 16 i avhandlingsserien.)

Gustafson, Niklas: Lärare i en ny tid. Om grundskolelärares förhandlingar av professionella identiteter. Umeå: Doktorsavhandlingar inom den Nationella Forskarskolan i Pedagogiskt Arbete (NaPA). 201. (Nr 53 i avhandlingsserien)

